
FEB. 7
2019

SAHA REGULAR BOARD
MEETING



SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY 
*REGULAR BOARD MEETING

818 S. Flores St., San Antonio, TX 78204 
1:00 p.m., Thursday, February 7, 2019 

MEETING CALLED TO ORDER 
1. The Board of Commissioners or its committee may hold a closed meeting pursuant to Texas                           

Government Code § 551.071-076 for consultation concerning attorney-client matters, real estate,               
litigation, personnel, and security matters. The Board or committee reserves the right to enter into                           
closed meeting at any time during the course of the meeting.

2. Pledge of Allegiance/Moment of Silence

PRESENTATION 
3. Installation of the new San Antonio Housing Authority Commissioners (presented by the City of San                           

Antonio Clerk)

MINUTES 
4. Minutes

● Approval of the December 6, 2018, Regular Board Meeting minutes

INDIVIDUAL ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION 
5. Consideration and approval regarding Resolution 5900, accepting the Independent Auditor’s Report                   

for the year ending June 30, 2018 (Ed Hinojosa, Chief Financial Officer; Diana Kollodziej Fiedler,                           
Director of Finance and Accounting)

6. Consideration and approval regarding Resolution 5901, certifying that the San Antonio Housing                     
Authority’s Investment Policy and Investment Strategies have been reviewed in accordance with the                       
requirements set forth in section 2256.005 (E) of the Texas Public Funds Investment Act (Ed Hinojosa,                             
Chief Financial Officer; Diana Kollodziej Fiedler, Director of Finance and Accounting)

7. Consideration and approval regarding Resolution 5904, authorizing the award of a contract for                       
Wheatley Infill New Home Construction to Terramark Interests, LLC; authorizing the President and                       
CEO, and his designated staff to negotiate terms with builder on behalf of the agency; and execute all                                 
documents in connection therewith (Steven Morando, Director of Procurement and General Services;                     
Lorraine Robles, Director of Development Services and Neighborhood Revitalization)

Page 2 of 246



8. Consideration and approval regarding Resolution 5905, authorizing conveyance of fifteen lots to                       
Terramark Interests, LLC for the construction of affordable single-family houses as part of the                           
Wheatley Choice Neighborhood Infill Strategy (Arrie B. Porter, Assistant Director of Choice                       
Neighborhood) 
 

9. Consideration and approval regarding Resolution 5902, to amend the Merced Housing Texas                       
Contract, to include a previously allocated amount of $200,000.00, for Owner Occupied Rehab, and                           
Exterior Only Improvements (Arrie B. Porter, Assistant Director of Choice Neighborhood) 
 

10. Consideration and approval regarding Resolution 5906, authorizing the award of a contract for Phillis                           
Wheatley Park Hardscape Construction to Straight Line Management, LLC (AABE, DBE, ESBE, MBE,                         
SBE, WBE, Section 3 Business) for an amount not to exceed $686,888.00 (Steven Morando, Director                             
of Procurement and General Services; Lorraine Robles, Director of Development Services and                       
Neighborhood Revitalization) 
 

11. Consideration and approval regarding Resolution 5857, authorizing the selection of Hogan Properties                       
Company, Inc. dba HomeSpring Realty Partners (Hogan) as development partner for 5700 Culebra                         
Road and 4847 Callaghan Road and authorizing the President and CEO, and his designated staff to:                               
further clarify and enhance the developer’s proposal, negotiate a development agreement; submit                       
applications for financing; create any legal entities; execute contracts for conveyance of land; retain                           
legal counsel; and ensure performance of all other matters in connection therewith (Steven Morando,                           
Director of Procurement and General Services; Timothy E. Alcott, Real Estate and Legal Services                           
Officer) 
 

12. Consideration and approval regarding Resolution 5909, authorizing the selection of a development                       
partner for 210 S. Grimes and 7.83 acres on the north east quadrant of Hedges and Grimes St. and                                     
authorizing the President and CEO, and his designated staff to: further clarify and enhance the                             
developer’s proposal, negotiate a development agreement; submit applications for financing; create                     
any legal entities; execute contracts for conveyance of land; retain legal counsel; and ensure                           
performance of all other matters in connection therewith (Steven Morando, Director of Procurement                         
and General Services; Timothy E. Alcott, Real Estate and Legal Services Officer) 
 

13. Consideration and approval regarding Resolution 5908, authorizing the award of an agency-wide                       
contract for maintenance, repair, modernization, replacement and new construction of elevators,                     
escalators and moving walkways to KONE, Inc., through US Communities Purchasing Cooperative, an                         
Omnia Partner, for an annual cumulative amount not to exceed $500,000.00; for a period of one year                                 
with the option to renew up to four additional one year terms (Steven Morando, Director of                               
Procurement and General Services; Hector Martinez, Director of Construction Services and                     
Sustainability) 
 

14. Consideration and approval regarding Resolution 5907, authorizing the award of an agency-wide                       
contract for irrigation systems inspection, testing, repair and installation to Olympia Landscape                       
Development, Inc. (HABE) for an annual cumulative amount not to exceed $60,000.00 per year for                             
year one, and $70,000.00 per year for year two, year three, year four, and year five (Steven Morando,                                   
Director of Procurement and General Services; Brandee Perez, Director of Federal Housing Programs)  
 

15. Consideration and approval regarding Resolution 5903, approving the Over-Income Limit Policy for                       
the Public Housing (PH) program (Brandee Perez, Director of Federal Housing Programs)   

 
16. Update and discussion regarding the Procurement Activity Report (Steven Morando, Director of                       

Procurement and General Services)  

 

Page 3 of 246



 
17. Update and discussion regarding Internal Audit Department Activities (Aiyana Longoria, Director of                       

Internal Audit) 
 

18. Update and discussion regarding Wheatley Choice Neighborhood activities relating to People,                     
Housing and Neighborhood (Timothy E. Alcott, Real Estate and Legal Services Officer; Lorraine                         
Robles, Director of Development Services and Neighborhood Revitalization; Adrian Lopez, Director of                       
Community Development Initiatives; Arrie Porter, Assistant Director of Choice Neighborhood)  
 

19. President’s Report 
● Dale Watson Benefit Concert 
● SAHA Participates in MLK March 
● Golden Gala and Senior Expo 
● San Antonio Spur Surprises Springview Families 
● Holiday Food Distribution 
● KIPP Hosts Christmas Dinner at Cassiano  
● SAHA Celebrates FSS Program Graduates 
● SAHA Transformed Into Santa’s Workshop 
● Update on Government Shutdown 

 
20. *Closed Session: 

Real Estate/Consultation with Attorney 
Deliberate the management, purchase, exchange, lease or value of certain real properties and obtain                           
legal advice regarding related legal issues pursuant to Texas Government Code Sec. 551.072 (real                           
property) and Texas Government Code Sec. 551.071 (consultation with attorney). 

● Discussion of Real Estate Developments 
 

21. Citizens to be Heard at approximately 2:00 p.m. (may be heard after this time) Citizens wishing to                                 
speak on issues not related to items posted on the agenda should personally request to be placed on                                   
the Citizens to be Heard roster prior to 1:45 p.m. Citizens will be given three minutes to speak. Only                                     
one appearance per speaker will be permitted at any regular Board Meeting. If present, a speaker                               
may cede time to another speaker, but no speaker may have the floor for more than 9 minutes.                                   
Groups of citizens from the same organization are asked to share nine minutes to address the Board                                 
on certain items. Organizations must be represented by an Officer or a Board member, and follow the                                 
same speaking rules as individuals. 
 

22. Adjournment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
*Note: Whenever the Texas Open Meetings Act (Section 551.001 et seq. of the Texas Government Code) provides for a closed meeting in matters                                             
concerning legal advice, real estate, contracts, personnel matters, or security issues, the Board may find a closed meeting to be necessary. For                                           
convenience of the citizens interested in an item preceded by an asterisk, notice is given that a closed meeting is contemplated. However, the                                             
Board reserves the right to go into a closed meeting on any other item, whether it has an asterisk, when the Board determines there is a need                                                     
and a closed meeting is permitted.   
“Pursuant to § 30.06, Penal Code, (trespass by holder license holder with a concealed handgun), a person licensed under Subchapter H, Chapter                                           
411, Government Code (handgun licensing law), may not attend this meeting with a concealed handgun.” 
“Pursuant to § 30.07, Penal Code, (trespass by holder license holder with an openly carried handgun), a person licensed under Subchapter H,                                           
Chapter 411, Government Code (handgun licensing law), may not attend this meeting with a handgun that is carried openly. 

 

Page 4 of 246



 

 
MINUTES 

SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS  
REGULAR BOARD MEETING  

December 6, 2018 
 

SCHEDULED:  1:00 p.m. at  818 S. Flores St., San Antonio, TX, 78204 
 
COMMISSIONERS PRESENT: 
Morris A. Stribling, DPM, Chair 
Charles R. Munoz, Vice-Chair 
Charles Clack, Commissioner 
Thomas F. Adkisson, Commissioner 
Marie R. McClure, Commissioner 
Jessica Weaver, Commissioner 
 

COMMISSIONERS ABSENT: 
None 
 

COUNSEL:  Doug Poneck, Escamilla &  
Poneck, LLP 

TRANSLATOR: BCC Communications 

   
STAFF:   
David Nisivoccia, President and CEO 
Muriel Rhoder, Chief Administrative Officer 
Timothy E. Alcott, Real Estate and Legal Services 
Officer 
Janie Rodriguez, Director of Human Resources 
Adrian Lopez, Director of Community 
Development Initiatives  
Jo Ana Alvarado, Director of Innovative 
Technology 
Michael Reyes, Director of Communications and 
Public Affairs 

Steven Morando, Director of Procurement and  
General Services 
Domingo Ibarra, Director of Security 
Aiyana Longoria, Director of Internal Audit 
Brandee Perez, Director of Federal Housing 
Programs 
Diana Kollodziej Fiedler, Director of Finance and 
Accounting 
Kristi Baird, Director of Beacon Communities 
Thomas Roth, Director of Asset Management 
Richard Milk, Director of Policy and Planning 
Hector Martinez, Director of Construction Services and 
Sustainability 

 
Item 1: Meeting called to order 

Chair Stribling, DPM, called the meeting to order at 1:05 p.m. 
 
Item 2: Pledge of Allegiance/Moment of Silence 

Recitation of pledge and moment of silence 
 
Item 3: Minutes 

● Approval of the November 1, 2018, Regular Board Meeting minutes 
 

Motion: Commissioner Clack moved to approve the November 1, 2018, Regular Board Meeting minutes.                         
Commissioner Adkisson seconded the motion. Approved. 
 

Page 5 of 246



 

 
Member 

 
Aye 

 
Nay 

Absent 
At Time of Vote 

 
Abstained 

Morris A. Stribling, DPM, Chair  X       
Charles R. Munoz, Vice-Chair  X       
Thomas F. Adkission, Commissioner  X       
Charles Clack, Commissioner  X       
Marie R. McClure, Commissioner  X       
Jessica Weaver, Commissioner      X   

 
COMMITTEE MEETING UPDATES 
Item 4: Update and discussion regarding the November 15, 2018, Finance Committee Meeting 

At Commissioner Adkisson’s request, Mr. David Nisivoccia, President and CEO, provided brief                       
highlights regarding the Financial Committee Meeting held on November 15, 2018.  
 
The following topics were discussed at the committee meeting: 
 
Update and discussion regarding the Quarterly Financial Report for the San Antonio Housing                         
Authority  
Ms. Diana Kollodziej Fiedler, Director of Finance and Accounting, reported and provided the                         
financial highlights of the San Antonio Housing Authority for the three months ended September                           
30, 2018. The results of operations reflect a surplus before non-cash items of $3.1 million, which                               
was $134,000 below budgeted projections. 
 
The total Operating Revenue was approximately $1.5 million below budget, due primarily to an                           
unfavorable variance of $1.5 million in Grants revenue, which was affected by the timing of                             
Choice grant expenditures. Ms. Fiedler further reported that the total Operating Expenses ended                         
the period $1.1 million below budget, due primarily to favorable variances of $751,000 in Salaries                             
and Benefits, and $1.2 million in Other Expenses.  
 
The Comparative Balance Sheet reflects an overall increase in Total Net Position of $6.1 million                             
from September 30, 2017, to September 30, 2018. Total Assets increased $7.5 million due to                             
increases of $7.2 million in Fixed Assets and $1.8 million in Other Non-Current Assets, offset by a                                 
decrease of $1.5 million in Current Assets.  
 
Update and discussion regarding the Internal Audit Department (Helen Madison, Acting                     
Director of Internal Audit, Aiyana Longoria, Director of Internal Audit)  
Ms. Aiyana Longoria, Director of Internal Audit, provided information and insight regarding                       
SAHA’s Internal Audit Department via a presentation. The presentation included the first quarter                         
Internal Audit activities in support of the SAHA Strategic Goals; the status of 2017-2018 Internal                             
Audit Plan; the status of 2018-2019 Internal Audit Plan; Action Items; and the status of Third Party                                 
Audits for SAHA. 
 

Item 5:  Update and discussion regarding the November 15, 2018, Operations and Choice                     
Neighborhood  Committee Meeting 
Chair Stribling, DPM, provided an update and discussion regarding the November 15, 2018,                         
Operations and Choice Neighborhood Committee Meeting. The items discussed during the                     
meeting included the following topics:  
 

Page 6 of 246



 

Update and discussion regarding Wheatley Choice Neighborhood activities 
An update for the Wheatley Choice Neighborhood was provided by Ms. Lorraine Robles,                         
Director of Development Services and Neighborhood Revitalization, Adrian Lopez, Director of                     
Community Development Initiatives and Ms. Arrie Porter, Assistant Director of Choice                     
Neighborhood. 
 
The following resolution was pulled from the agenda by Mr. Nisivoccia for further internal                           
discussion: 
 
Resolution 5857, authorizing the selection of Hogan Properties Company, Inc. dba                     
HomeSpring Realty Partners (Hogan) as development partner for 5700 Culebra Road and                       
4847 Callaghan Road and authorizing the President and CEO, and his designated staff to:                           
further clarify and enhance the developer’s proposal; negotiate a development agreement;                     
submit applications for financing; create any legal entities; execute contracts for conveyance                       
of land; retain legal counsel; and ensure performance of all other matters in connection                           
therewith 
 
The following resolutions were approved to move forward to the Board meeting: 
 
Resolution 5858, authorizing the President and CEO to approve and proceed with                       
adjustments totaling $2,400.00, to the approved self-funded, third-party provider of SAHA                     
employee medical and dental plans plus fully insured vision, short-term disability, long-term                       
disability, life insurance benefit plans and an electronic benefits enrollment platform for                       
calendar year 2019, for a total adjusted cost not to exceed $5,872,462.00 was presented by                             
Muriel Rhoder, Chief Administrative Officer; Janie Rodriguez, Director of Human Resources 
 
Resolution 5859, authorizing the award of a contract for Blanco basement structural                       
concrete repairs and drainage improvements to Structural Concrete Systems, LLC for an                       
amount not to exceed $521,167.38 was presented by Steven Morando, Director of                       
Procurement and General Services; Hector Martinez, Director of Construction Services and                     
Sustainability 
 
Resolution 5860, authorizing the award of a contract for T.L. Shaley Burn Unit Duplex                           
Reconstruction to Bougambilias Construction, LLC (HABE, HUB) for an amount not to exceed                         
$254,699.99 was presented by Steven Morando, Director of Procurement and General                     
Services; Hector Martinez, Director of Construction Services and Sustainability 
  
Resolution 5861, authorizing the expenditure of additional funds for Roof and HVAC                       
Replacement at Woodhill Apartments to Garland/DBS, Inc., through U.S. Communities                   
Government Purchasing Alliance, in the amount of $69,139.00 was presented by Steven                       
Morando, Director of Procurement and General Services; Hector Martinez, Director of                     
Construction Services and Sustainability 
 
Resolution 5862, authorizing the award of contracts for mowing and ground maintenance                       
services for select Public Housing properties to the following companies: B&T Dependable                       
Services, LLC (AABE, DBE, ESBE, MBE, SBE, HUB, Section 3 Business) for an amount not to                               
exceed $28,800.00, C&M Quality Landscaping Maintenance for an amount not to exceed                       
$114,768.00, Champion Lawn Care (WBE, Section 3 Business) for an amount not to exceed                           
$102,757.82, and R&C Landscape, LLC (ESBE, HABE, MBE, SBE, Section 3 Business) for an                           
amount not to exceed $37,269.79; all for a period of one year with the option to extend on a                                     

Page 7 of 246



 

prorated month to month basis not to exceed a period of six months was presented by Steven                                 
Morando, Director of Procurement and General Services; Brandee Perez, Director of Federal                       
Housing Programs 
 
Update and discussion regarding the Federal Housing Programs Quarterly Report  
Ms. Brandee Perez, Director of Federal Housing Programs, provided the FHP Quarterly Report                         
for the July 2018 to September 2018 quarter, and reported on the following data: demographics,                             
waitlist totals, termination totals, voucher utilization rates, and Public Housing occupancy rates. 
 
Update and discussion regarding the Real Estate Assessment Center Scores 
Ms. Perez provided the average Real Estate Assessment Center Scores across SAHA’s portfolio                         
within the past five years and informed the Board that HUD implemented new industry standards                             
for repairs that critically impacted inspections scores for subsequent years. Effective July 1, 2016,                           
three Maintenance Technician, two Porter and one Maintenance Supervisor positions were                     
eliminated, which also affected staff’s ability to maintain units at HUD standards. Since the                           
implementation of this requirement and reduction in staff, REAC scores have steadily decreased.                         
Ms. Perez reported that this year’s REAC inspections resulted in a reduced average score for all                               
properties and then provided a breakdown of the scores for each property inspected this year.  
 

CONSENT ITEMS 
 

Item 6: Consideration and approval regarding Resolution 5858, authorizing the President and CEO                     
to approve and proceed with adjustments totaling $2,400.00, to the approved self-funded,                       
third-party provider of SAHA employee medical and dental plans plus fully insured vision,                         
short-term disability, long-term disability, life insurance benefit plans and an electronic                     
benefits enrollment platform for calendar year 2019, for a total adjusted cost not to exceed                             
$5,872,462.00 
Consent  

 
Item 7:  Consideration and approval regarding Resolution 5859, authorizing the award of a contract                       

for Blanco basement structural concrete repairs and drainage improvements to Structural                     
Concrete Systems, LLC for an amount not to exceed $521,167.38 
Consent 

 
Item 8: Consideration and approval regarding Resolution 5860, authorizing the award of a contract                       

for T.L. Shaley Burn Unit Duplex Reconstruction to Bougambilias Construction, LLC (HABE,                       
HUB) for an amount not to exceed $254,699.99 
Consent 

 
Item 9: Consideration and approval regarding Resolution 5861, authorizing the expenditure of                   

additional funds for Roof and HVAC Replacement at Woodhill Apartments to Garland/DBS,                       
Inc., through U.S. Communities Government Purchasing Alliance, in the amount of                     
$69,139.00 
Consent 

 
Item 10: Consideration and approval regarding Resolution 5862, authorizing the award of contracts                     

for mowing and ground maintenance services for select Public Housing properties to the                         
following companies: B&T Dependable Services, LLC (AABE, DBE, ESBE, MBE, SBE, HUB,                       
Section 3 Business) for an amount not to exceed $28,800.00, C&M Quality Landscaping                         
Maintenance for an amount not to exceed $114,768.00, Champion Lawn Care (WBE, Section                         

Page 8 of 246



 

3 Business) for an amount not to exceed $102,757.82, and R&C Landscape, LLC (ESBE,                           
HABE, MBE, SBE, Section 3 Business) for an amount not to exceed $37,269.79; all for a                               
period of one year with the option to extend on a prorated month to month basis not to                                   
exceed a period of six months 
Consent 

 
Motion: Commissioner Adkisson moved to approve Consent Items 6, 7, 8, 9 and 10. Commissioner Clack                             

seconded the motion. Approved. 
 

 
Member 

 
Aye 

 
Nay 

Absent 
At Time of Vote 

 
Abstained 

Morris A. Stribling, DPM, Chair  X       
Charles R. Munoz, Vice-Chair  X       
Thomas F. Adkission, Commissioner  X       
Charles Clack, Commissioner  X       
Marie R. McClure, Commissioner  X       
Jessica Weaver, Commissioner      X   

 
 
INDIVIDUAL ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION 
 
Item 11: Update and discussion regarding the Procurement Activity Report 

Mr. Steven Morando, Director of Procurement and General Services, reported through the                       
calendar quarter ended September 30, 2018, the San Antonio Housing Authority’s Procurement                       
Department issued sixteen formal and fifteen informal solicitations, receiving a total of 216                         
responses. This resulted in an average of 6.5 responses per formal solicitation and 7.5                           
responses per informal solicitations, for an overall average response rate of 6.97 per solicitation.                           
New contracts awarded through the third quarter were $5,238,428.33; Blanket awards in the                         
amount of $7,875,000.00 and contract renewals in the amount of $8,045,577.49, which                       
resulted in a grand total awarded of $21,159,005.82. Of this total, $2,632,212.37 or 12.4 percent,                             
were awarded to Small, Women-Owned and Minority Business Enterprises (SWMBE), and                     
$1,408,848.59 or 6.7 percent, were awarded to Section 3 business concerns.  
 
For the 3rd calendar quarter ending September 30, 2018, SAHA contractors reported sixteen of                           
their thirty new hires qualified as Section 3 individuals, which represented 53.3 percent of all                             
new hires. The new hires were composed of ten male and six female individuals. For the                               
year-to-date, SAHA has hired 19 of its Section 3 temporary employees into full time positions                             
within the agency. The weighted average wage rate for these Section 3 individuals is $14.15 per                               
hour.  Mr. Morando also reported that a department Section 3 Coordinator has been hired. 
 
Mr. Morando reported on current solicitations. The Invitation for Bids is for Automated/Automatic                         
Gate Maintenance, Repair, and Replacement Agency-Wide; the Requests for Proposals are for                       
President and CEO Annual Evaluation and Compensation Review Services and Financial                     
Consulting and HUD Guidance Services; the Request for Qualifications is for Wheatley Infill New                           
Home Construction and the Quick Quote is for Utility Billing Services for Beacon Communities.                           
The closed/pending solicitations include Operational and Organizational Assessment of the                   
SAHA Development Services and Neighborhood Revitalization (DSNR) Department,               
Development Partner for 5700 Culebra Road, Phillis Wheatley Park Hardscape Construction,                     

Page 9 of 246



 

JDE Administrator - Consulting, Fair Avenue Burned Unit #704 Rehabilitation and HUD AMP                         
Configuration Consulting. 
 
The department is also currently working on a number of solicitations for advertisement. The                           
solicitations in development generated several questions and discussion regarding the Sale of                       
1310 S. Brazos Street Warehouse; Rehabilitation of Seven Offline Burn Units at Cassiano Homes;                           
and Laundry Concession Services. 
 

Item 12:     President’s Report 
● SAHA to Dispose of Scattered Sites Units 
● Our Lady of Victory School  
● Dale Watson Benefit Concert  
● Golden Gala and Senior Expo  
● 4th Annual Toy Drive  
● CEO Townhall Meetings  
● EIF Poster Contest Judging  
● SAHA Honors Veterans  
● Health Fair  
● Halloween Stroll  
● SAHA Winter Holiday Closure  
● List of 2019 Board and Committee Meetings 

 
Item 13: *Closed Session: 

Consultation with Attorney 
Deliberate the management, purchase, exchange, lease or value of certain real properties and                         
obtain legal advice regarding related legal issues pursuant to Texas Government Code Sec.                         
551.072 (real property) and Texas Government Code Sec. 551.071 (consultation with attorney).  

● Litigation Updates  
 

Personnel/Consultation with Attorney 
Deliberate the appointment, employment, evaluation, reassignment, duties, discipline, or dismissal                   
of a public officer or employee or to hear a complaint or charge against an officer or employee and                                     
obtain legal advice regarding legal issues pursuant to Texas Government Code Sec. 551.074                         
(personnel) and Texas Government Code Sec. 551.071 (consultation with attorney). 

● President and CEO Performance Evaluation Process 
 
Chair Stribling, DPM, recessed for closed session at 2:08 p.m. 
 
The regular Board meeting was reconvened at 3:14 p.m. 

 
Motion: After returning from Closed Session, Commissioner Clack moved to retain Segal Waters                       

Consulting Company as discussed in Closed Session. Commissioner Adkission seconded the                     
motion. Approved. 

 
 
Member 

 
Aye 

 
Nay 

Absent 
At Time of Vote 

 
Abstained 

Charles A. Stribling, DPM, Chair  X       
Charles R. Munoz, Vice-Chair  X       

Page 10 of 246



 

Thomas F. Adkission, Commissioner  X       
Charles Clack, Commissioner  X       
Marie R. McClure, Commissioner  X       
Jessica Weaver, Commissioner  X       

 
Item 14: Citizens to be Heard  

There was only one Citizen to be Heard. 
 
Item 24: Adjournment 

With no objections, Chair Stribling, DPM, adjourned the meeting at 3:16 p.m.  
 

ATTEST: 
 
 

________________________________ ______________________ 
Morris A. Stribling, DPM Date 
Chair 
 
 
________________________________ ______________________ 
David Nisivoccia Date 
President and CEO  

Page 11 of 246



SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY                                                            February 7, 2019 
 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
  

RESOLUTION 5900, ACCEPTING THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT FOR THE YEAR                   
ENDING JUNE 30, 2018 
 
 
_______________________________   _______________________________ 
David Nisivoccia Ed Hinojosa 
President and CEO  Chief Financial Officer 
 
 
REQUESTED ACTION: 
Consideration and approval regarding Resolution 5900, accepting the Independent Auditor’s                   
Report for the year ending June 30, 2018. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
None. 
 
SUMMARY: 
The audit for the Housing Authority of the City of San Antonio and its component units for the                                   
year ended June 30, 2018, has been completed. In planning the audit, RSM US LLP met with staff                                   
to coordinate audit engagement details, establish auditor and client responsibilities, and                     
determine any significant changes in SAHA’s structure and personnel, as well as determine any                           
new companies and new agreements that may impact the audit approach. RSM US LLP also                             
verified any new accounting or audit requirements published by the U.S. Department of Housing                           
and Urban Development, the Government Accounting Standards Board, or the American Institute                       
of Certified Public Accountants, which would affect the audits. 
 
RSM US LLP reports include: 

● Financial Audit Results Opinion – Unmodified (clean audit) 
● Compliance Audit Results Opinion – Unmodified (clean audit) 
● Report on Conduct of Audit and Management Letter Comments 

 
RSM US LLP performed the following tasks during interim fieldwork: 

● Tested certain internal controls for the following significant SAHA transaction cycles: cash                       
receipts, procurement, disbursements and payroll 

● Reviewed reports prepared by the internal audit department to identify and assess any                         
accounting issues 

● Tested major federal financial assistance program(s) for compliance with federal                   
requirements 

● Reviewed organizational structure and selected a sample of employees who were                     
interviewed about risks to SAHA including fraud 

 
RSM US LLP performed the following year-end tasks: 
● Conducted and evaluated preliminary analytical reviews to determine the nature and                     

extent of procedures to be performed 
● Established the audit approach, including preparation of a tailored audit work program 
● Computed audit materiality to obtain reasonable assurance of detecting misstatements                   

that could be material to the financial statements taken as a whole 

 
Page 12 of 246



SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY                                                            February 7, 2019 
 

● Reviewed and mailed SAHA-prepared confirmations to customers, creditors, legal                 
counsel and banks 

● Performed substantive procedures for the various financial statement account balances                   
as of year-end as deemed necessary in the following areas: cash, investments, notes                         
receivable, grant and rent revenue, capital assets, payroll and related liabilities, escrow                       
accounts and long-term debt 

● Reviewed the SAHA-prepared financial statements and utilized a disclosure checklist to                     
ensure all significant disclosures are made 

● Finalized analytical review procedures to assess the conclusions reached and evaluate                     
the overall financial statement presentation 

● Followed up on prior year comments and recommendations included in the Report on                         
Conduct of Audit 

● Prepared the Report on Conduct of Audit for the current year 
 
RSM US LLP will also issue audit reports as required by HUD or other contractual agreements for                                 
the following component units, all of which contained unmodified (clean audit) opinions: 
 

● San Antonio Housing Facility Corporation 
● Sendero I Public Facility Corporation 
● Springhill/Courtland Heights Public Facility Corporation 
● Woodhill Public Facility Corporation 
● Converse Ranch, LLC 

 
STRATEGIC GOAL: 
Transform core operations to be a high performing and financially strong organization. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Resolution 5900 
Financial Statements and Independent Auditor’s Report 
Report of Conduct of Audit and Management Letter Comments 
 

 
Page 13 of 246



CERTIFICATE FOR RESOLUTION 5900  

The undersigned officer of the Housing Authority of the City of San Antonio, Texas, a Texas                
housing authority created pursuant to the laws of the State of Texas (SAHA), hereby certifies as                
follows: 

1. In accordance with Chapter 551, Texas Government Code, as amended (Open Meetings           
Act), and the bylaws of SAHA, the Board of Commissioners of SAHA (Board) held a meeting on                 
February 7, 2019 (Meeting) of the duly constituted officers and members of the Board, at which a duly                  
constituted quorum was present. Whereupon among other business transacted at the Meeting, a written 

RESOLUTION 5900, ACCEPTING THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT       
FOR THE YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2018 

(Resolution) was duly introduced for the consideration of the Board and discussed. It was then duly                
moved and seconded that the Resolution be adopted; and, after due discussion, said motion, carrying               
with it the adoption of the Resolution, prevailed and carried by a majority vote of the Board. 

2. A true, full, and correct copy of the Resolution adopted at the Meeting is attached to and                 
follows this Certificate; the Resolution has been duly recorded in the Board’s minutes of the Meeting;                
each of the officers and members of the Board was duly and sufficiently notified officially and                
personally, in advance, of the time, place, and purpose of the Meeting; and the Meeting was held and                  
conducted in accordance with the Open Meetings Act and the Bylaws of SAHA. 

SIGNED February 7, 2019. 

  
______________________________  
David Nisivoccia 
President and CEO 

 
  

 

Page 14 of 246



 
San Antonio Housing Authority 

Resolution 5900 
 

RESOLUTION 5900, ACCEPTING THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDING                     
JUNE 30, 2018 

WHEREAS, the agency planning requirements of the Quality Housing and Work Responsibility Act of                           
1998 (QHWRA), and the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development’s (HUD) February 18,                           
1999 Interim Rule contains implementing instructions for agency planning requirements; and 

WHEREAS, the Office of Management and Budget under 2 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part                           
200, Subpart F and the HUD regulations require that all Public Housing Authorities conduct a financial                               
and compliance audit and submit it to the HUD local field office annually; and 

WHEREAS, SAHA has contracted with independent auditors that have conducted a financial and                         
compliance audit of SAHA and its related entities and have presented said report to the SAHA Board of                                   
Commissioners on February 7, 2019; and 

WHEREAS, the Independent Auditor’s Report indicates an unmodified (clean audit) opinion on the                         
Financial Audit Results, an unmodified (clean audit) opinion on the Compliance Audit Results, and no                             
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies for SAHA; and 

WHEREAS, staff requests that the Board of Commissioners review and accept the annual Independent                           
Auditor’s Report for the year ending June 30, 2018. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Commissioners of SAHA hereby: 
 

Approves Resolution 5900, accepting the Independent Auditor’s Report for the year ending                       
June 30, 2018. 

 
Passed and approved the 7th day of February 2019. 
 
 
________________________________ 
Morris A. Stribling, DPM 
Chair, Board of Commissioners 
 
 
Attested and approved as to form: 
 
________________________________ 
David Nisivoccia 
President and CEO 

 

Page 15 of 246



©2015 RSM US LLP. All Rights Reserved. ©2015 RSM US LLP. All Rights Reserved. 
Page 16 of 246



©2015 RSM US LLP. All Rights Reserved. ©2015 RSM US LLP. All Rights Reserved. 

PRESENTATION TO THE FINANCE 
COMMITTEE OF THE SAN ANTONIO 
HOUSING AUTHORITY
Audit Results for the Year Ended June 30, 2018

February 7, 2019

Page 17 of 246



©2015 RSM US LLP. All Rights Reserved. 

Engagement Team 

• RSM 
•
•
•
•
•

•

• Robert Williams, CPA
•

Page 18 of 246



©2015 RSM US LLP. All Rights Reserved. 

Audit Scope 

• Financial Audits – 
•
•

•
•
•
•
•

• Compliance Audits – 
•
•
•

Page 19 of 246



©2015 RSM US LLP. All Rights Reserved. 

Financial Audit Overview and Results

• SAHA – Business Type Organization (single 
column)

• Audit Results – 
•
•

• Management Discussion and Analysis Letter
• Basic Financial Statements 
• Notes to Financial Statements
• Compliance Section 

Page 20 of 246



©2015 RSM US LLP. All Rights Reserved. 

Financial Key Performance Indicators

• Current Ratio: Current Assets / Current 
Liabilities

•
•
•

• Debt Ratio: Total Debt / Total Assets
•
•
•

Page 21 of 246



©2015 RSM US LLP. All Rights Reserved. 

Financial Key Performance Indicators 
(continued)

• Months Expendable Net Assets Ratio:  
(Current Assets – Current Liabilities) / Average 
Monthly Operating Expenses

•
•
•

Page 22 of 246



©2015 RSM US LLP. All Rights Reserved. 

Internal Control Deficiency Definitions 

• A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or 
operation of a control does not allow management or employees, 
in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis.  

• A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial 
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a 
timely basis. 

• A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material 
weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those 
charged with governance. 

Page 23 of 246



©2015 RSM US LLP. All Rights Reserved. 

Management Letter Comments

• Material Weaknesses – None 
• Significant Deficiencies – None 
• Control Deficiencies – None 
• Status of Prior Year Internal Control Recommendations -  

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

Page 24 of 246



©2015 RSM US LLP. All Rights Reserved. 

Federal Grants Audit Overview and Results

• Major Program Tested
•

•

•
•

• Opinions on Federal Compliance Audits:  Unmodified 
• Compliance Findings and Internal Control over Compliance

•
•
•

Page 25 of 246



©2015 RSM US LLP. All Rights Reserved. 

Required Communications

• Auditors’ Responsibility Under Auditing Standards Generally 
Accepted in the United States

• Qualitative Aspects of Significant Accounting Practices
•

• Significant Difficulties Encountered During the Audit – None
• Uncorrected – None reported
• Corrected – None reported
• Disagreements with Management – None
• Representations Requested from Management 
• Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants – 

None
Page 26 of 246



©2015 RSM US LLP. All Rights Reserved. 

Required Communications

• Representations Requested from Management 
• Management’s Consultations with Other 
Accountants – None

Page 27 of 246



©2015 RSM US LLP. All Rights Reserved. ©2015 RSM US LLP. All Rights Reserved. 
Page 28 of 246



©2015 RSM US LLP. All Rights Reserved. ©2015 RSM US LLP. All Rights Reserved. 
Page 29 of 246



©2015 RSM US LLP. All Rights Reserved. 

This document contains general information, may be based on authorities that are subject to change, and is not a substitute for 
professional advice or services. This document does not constitute audit, tax, consulting, business, financial, investment, legal or other 
professional advice, and you should consult a qualified professional advisor before taking any action based on the information herein. RSM 
US LLP, its affiliates and related entities are not responsible for any loss resulting from or relating to reliance on this document by any 
person. 

RSM US LLP is a limited liability partnership and the U.S. member firm of RSM International, a global network of independent audit, tax 
and consulting firms. The member firms of RSM International collaborate to provide services to global clients, but are separate and distinct 
legal entities that cannot obligate each other. Each member firm is responsible only for its own acts and omissions, and not those of any 
other party. Visit rsmus.com/aboutus for more information regarding RSM US LLP and RSM International. 

RSM® and the RSM logo are registered trademarks of RSM International Association. The power of being understood® is a registered 
trademark of RSM US LLP. 

© 2015 RSM US LLP. All Rights Reserved.

RSM US LLP

19026 Ridgewood Parkway, Suite 400
San Antonio, Texas 78259
210-828-6281

+00 (1) 800 274 3978
www.rsmus.com

Page 30 of 246



Page 31 of 246



Page 32 of 246



Page 33 of 246



Page 34 of 246



Page 35 of 246



Page 36 of 246



Page 37 of 246



Page 38 of 246



Page 39 of 246



Page 40 of 246



Page 41 of 246



Page 42 of 246



Page 43 of 246



Page 44 of 246



Page 45 of 246



Page 46 of 246



Page 47 of 246



Page 48 of 246



Page 49 of 246



Page 50 of 246



Page 51 of 246



Page 52 of 246



Page 53 of 246



Page 54 of 246



Page 55 of 246



Page 56 of 246



Page 57 of 246



Page 58 of 246



Page 59 of 246



Page 60 of 246



Page 61 of 246



Page 62 of 246



Page 63 of 246



Page 64 of 246



Page 65 of 246



Page 66 of 246



Page 67 of 246



Page 68 of 246



Page 69 of 246



Page 70 of 246



Page 71 of 246



Page 72 of 246



Page 73 of 246



Page 74 of 246



Page 75 of 246



Page 76 of 246



Page 77 of 246



Page 78 of 246



Page 79 of 246



Page 80 of 246



Page 81 of 246



Page 82 of 246



Page 83 of 246



Page 84 of 246



Page 85 of 246



Page 86 of 246



Page 87 of 246



Page 88 of 246



Page 89 of 246



Page 90 of 246



Page 91 of 246



Page 92 of 246



Page 93 of 246



Page 94 of 246



Page 95 of 246



Page 96 of 246



Page 97 of 246



Page 98 of 246



Page 99 of 246



Page 100 of 246



Page 101 of 246



Page 102 of 246



Page 103 of 246



Page 104 of 246



Page 105 of 246



Page 106 of 246



Page 107 of 246



Page 108 of 246



Page 109 of 246



SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY  February 7, 2019 
  

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 

RESOLUTION 5901, CERTIFYING THAT THE SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY’S                 
INVESTMENT POLICY AND INVESTMENT STRATEGIES HAVE BEEN REVIEWED IN                 
ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN SECTION 2256.005 (E) OF THE                       
TEXAS PUBLIC FUNDS INVESTMENT ACT   

 
_______________________________        _______________________________ 
David Nisivoccia        Ed Hinojosa 
President and CEO        Chief Financial Officer 
 
 
REQUESTED ACTION: 
Consideration and approval regarding Resolution 5901, certifying that the San Antonio Housing                       
Authority’s Investment Policy and Investment Strategies have been reviewed in accordance with                       
the requirements set forth in section 2256.005 (e) of the Texas Public Funds Investment Act.  
 
PURPOSE: 
The purpose of the review is to ensure SAHA remains in compliance with requirements set forth                               
in Section 2256.005 (e) of the Texas Public Funds Investment Act (PFIA).   
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT:  
None. 
 
SUMMARY:  
Section 2256.005 (e) of the Texas Public Funds Investment Act requires that the governing body                             
of each covered entity review its Investment Policy and Investment Strategies not less than                           
annually and adopt a written instrument by rule, order, ordinance, or resolution stating such.   
 
The Investment Policy denotes the allowed investment activities, which must conform to all                         
federal, state, and local statutes governing the investment of public and non-public funds. The                           
policy contains relevant information to guide responsible personnel regarding authorized                   
investment activities.   
 
There are no proposed changes to the Investment Policy at this time. 
 
STRATEGIC GOAL: 
Transform core operations to be a high performing and financially strong organization. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Resolution 5901 
2019 Investment Policy 
 
 

 
Page 110 of 246



CERTIFICATE FOR RESOLUTION 5901 

The undersigned officer of the Housing Authority of the City of San Antonio, Texas, a               
Texas housing authority created pursuant to the laws of the State of Texas (SAHA), hereby               
certifies as follows: 

1. In accordance with Chapter 551, Texas Government Code, as amended (Open          
Meetings Act), and the bylaws of SAHA, the Board of Commissioners of SAHA (Board) held a                
meeting on February 7, 2019, (Meeting) of the duly constituted officers and members of the               
Board, at which a duly constituted quorum was present. Whereupon among other business             
transacted at the Meeting, a written 

RESOLUTION 5901, CERTIFYING THAT THE SAN ANTONIO HOUSING        
AUTHORITY’S INVESTMENT POLICY AND INVESTMENT STRATEGIES      
HAVE BEEN REVIEWED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS  

SET FORTH IN SECTION 2256.005 (e) OF THE TEXAS PUBLIC FUNDS           
INVESTMENT ACT  

(Resolution) was duly introduced for the consideration of the Board and discussed. It was then               
duly moved and seconded that the Resolution be adopted; and, after due discussion, said motion,               
carrying with it the adoption of the Resolution, prevailed and carried by a majority vote of the                 
Board. 

2. A true, full, and correct copy of the Resolution adopted at the Meeting is attached               
to and follows this Certificate; the Resolution has been duly recorded in the Board’s minutes of                
the Meeting; each of the officers and members of the Board was duly and sufficiently notified                
officially and personally, in advance of the time, place, and purpose of the Meeting; and the                
Meeting was held and conducted in accordance with the Open Meetings Act and the Bylaws of                
SAHA. 

SIGNED February 7, 2019. 

 
 
 
David Nisivoccia 
President and CEO 

 
  

 

Page 111 of 246



San Antonio Housing Authority 
Resolution 5901 

 
RESOLUTION 5901, CERTIFYING THAT THE SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY’S                 
INVESTMENT POLICY AND INVESTMENT STRATEGIES HAVE BEEN REVIEWED IN                 
ACCORDANCE WITH THE REQUIREMENTS SET FORTH IN SECTION 2256.005 (e) OF THE                       
TEXAS PUBLIC FUNDS INVESTMENT ACT 

WHEREAS, the State of Texas has passed legislation requiring written Investment Policies for all                           
public agencies; and 

WHEREAS, the State requires the governing body of an investing entity review its Investment                           
Policy and Investment Strategies not less than annually and adopt a resolution stating such; and  

WHEREAS, staff of the Authority has previously prepared the Investment Policy to meet the                           
requirements of the State of Texas Law; and 

WHEREAS, there are no proposed changes to this policy at this time. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Commissioners of SAHA hereby: 

Approves Resolution 5901, certifying that the San Antonio Housing Authority’s Investment                     
Policy and Investment Strategies have been reviewed in accordance with the                     
requirements set forth in section 2256.005 (e) of the Texas Public Funds Investment Act.  

 
Passed and approved the 7th day of February 2019. 
 
 
___________________________ 
Morris A. Stribling, DPM 
Chair, Board of Commissioners 
 
Attested and approved as to form: 
 
 
___________________________ 
David Nisivoccia 
President and CEO 

 

 

Page 112 of 246



 

INVESTMENT POLICY 
February 7, 2019 

 
1.0 POLICY: 
 

It is the policy of the Housing Authority of the City of San Antonio, Texas to invest all 
funds in a manner that will provide the highest investment return with the maximum 
security while assuring sufficient liquidity to meet the daily cash flow demands of the 
Housing Authority. Investment activities must conform to all federal, state and local 
statutes governing the investment of public and non-public funds. 

 
2.0 SCOPE: 
 

This investment policy applies to all financial assets of the Housing Authority and related 
entities. These funds are accounted for in the Housing Authority Annual Audit Reports 
and include: 

 
2.1 Operating Funds and Reserves for Public Housing, Section 8, and all programs 

 
2.2 Development Reserves, Bond Proceeds, and Escrow Accounts 

 
2.3 Any newly acquired or special funds 

 
2.4 Non-Profit and Partnership Funds 

 
 
3.0 OBJECTIVE: 
 

As required by the Act, the investment of funds shall be governed by the following 
investment objectives, in order of preference:  

 
3.1 Preservation and safety of principal: Investment decisions of the Authority shall 

be undertaken in a manner that seeks to ensure the preservation and safety of 
capital in the overall portfolio. To obtain this goal, adequate diversification is 
required to assure that potential losses on individual investments do not exceed 
the income generated from the remainder of the portfolio. There shall be a 
requirement for settlement of all transactions, except investment pool funds and 
mutual funds, on a delivery versus payment basis. 

 
3.2 Liquidity:  The investment portfolio will remain sufficiently liquid to enable the 

Authority to meet all operating requirements that might be reasonably anticipated. 
Investment in securities with an active secondary market are preferred 
investments. 

 

Page 113 of 246



 

3.3 Yield and Return on Investment:  The San Antonio Housing Authority investment 
portfolio shall be designed with the objective of attaining a rate of return 
throughout budgetary and economic cycles, commensurate with the Authority’s 
investment risk constraints and cash flow characteristics of the portfolio. 

 
3.4 Legal Limitations:  Direct specific investment parameters for the investment of 

public funds in Texas are found in the Public Funds Investment Act, Chapter 
2256, Texas Government Code and the U. S. Department of Housing and Urban 
Development Public and Indian Housing Notice 95-27 issued May 11, 1995. 

 
3.5 Administrative Cost:  In choosing an investment, the San Antonio Housing 

Authority shall consider the administrative work involved, particularly with 
regards to investments of short duration.  

 
 
4.0 PRUDENCE: 
 

The standard of prudence to be used in the investment function shall be the “prudent 
person” standard and shall be applied in the context of managing the overall portfolio. 
Prudence shall be measured by considering the investment of all funds or funds under the 
entity’s control over which the officer had responsibility rather than a consideration as to 
the prudence of a single investment.  
 
This standard states:  “Investments shall be made with judgment and care, under 
circumstances then prevailing, which persons of prudence, discretion and intelligence 
exercise in the management of their own affairs, not for speculation, but for investment, 
considering the probable safety of their capital as well as the expected income to be 
derived.” The investment officer and those delegated with investment authority under this 
policy, when acting in accordance with the written procedures and this policy in accord 
with the Prudent Person Rule, shall be relieved of personal responsibility and liability in 
the management of the portfolio, provided that deviations from expectations for a specific 
security’s credit risk or market price change or portfolio shifts are reported in a timely 
manner and that appropriate action is taken to control adverse market effects.  

 
 
5.0 DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY: 
 

The Board of Commissioners of the Housing Authority of the City of San Antonio retains 
the ultimate responsibility as fiduciaries over the assets of the organization. The Board 
hereby delegates to the CEO and the CEO’s designated staff the day-to-day responsibility 
of managing the Housing Authority’s investment activities. The CEO will report the 
investment activities to the Board of Commissioners on at least a quarterly basis as 
required by the Public Funds Investment Act.  
 

Page 114 of 246



 

The CEO, with assistance from the CEO’s designated staff, will establish the system of 
procedures and controls to regulate the investment activities. No officer or designee may 
engage in an investment transaction except as provided under the terms of this policy and 
the procedures established and approved by the President and CEO. 
 
The CEO designates the Chief Financial officer as responsible for considering the quality 
and capability of staff, investment advisors, and consultants involved in investment 
management and procedures. The Chief Financial Officer will also oversee all investment 
activities and assure that appropriate internal controls are in place and being followed. 
 
The CEO also designates the Director of Finance and Accounting as the Investment 
Officer of the Housing Authority to be responsible for the day to day operating decisions 
related to investment decisions and activities. In addition, the Investment Officer shall be 
responsible for all transactions undertaken and together with the Chief Financial Officer, 
shall establish a system of procedures and controls to regulate the activities of 
subordinate officials and staff. The CEO, Chief Financial Officer and Director of Finance 
and Accounting shall be authorized to make investment decisions and place investment 
orders. All participants in the investment process shall act responsibly as custodians of 
the public trust. 
 

6.0       ETHICS AND CONFLICTS OF INTEREST: 
 

Officers, employees, board members, and investment officials involved in the investment 
process shall refrain from personal business activity that could conflict, or could 
reasonably be perceived as a conflict, with the proper execution of the investment 
program, or which could impair their ability to make impartial investment decisions. 
Officers, employees, board members, and investment officials shall disclose to the 
President and CEO, in writing, any material financial interests in financial institutions 
that conduct business with this Authority. Officers, employees, board members, and 
investment officials shall further disclose any large personal financial investment 
positions that could be related to the investment activities of the Housing Authority, 
particularly with regard to the time of purchases and sale of investments. All Federal, 
State of Texas, and Housing Authority Ethics Policies shall be strictly followed.  

 
7.0       AUTHORIZED FINANCIAL DEALERS AND INSTITUTIONS: 
 

The Investment Officer shall maintain a list of all financial institutions authorized to 
provide investment services for the Housing Authority. 
 
7.1 All financial institutions and broker/dealers who desire to become qualified 

bidders for investment transactions must supply the Investment Officer with 
annual financial statements and certification in writing that the financial 
institution or the broker/dealer has read and will follow all Federal and State of 
Texas laws and regulations regarding investments made by the San Antonio 
Housing Authority. 

Page 115 of 246



 

 
7.2 An annual review of the financial statements will be completed by the Investment 

Officer. 
 

7.3 A current audited financial statement is required to be on file for each financial 
institution and broker/dealer with which the Housing Authority transacts business. 

 
7.4 The board or designated investment committee of the San Antonio Housing 

Authority shall, at least annually, review, revise, and adopt a list of qualified 
brokers that are authorized to engage in investment transactions with the San 
Antonio Housing Authority. 

 
8.0       AUTHORIZED AND SUITABLE INVESTMENTS: 
 

8.1 HUD Funds:  The San Antonio Housing Authority is required to invest HUD 
sourced funds in investments approved by the U.S. Department of Housing and 
Urban Development. These investments must be fully collateralized. 
ATTACHMENT A is applicable to HUD funds and contains a listing and 
description of approved investments. 

 
8.2       Non-HUD Funds:  Funds in excess of HUD funds, unrestricted funds, reserves,  

      partnership funds, bond proceeds, foundation funds, and other funds are not  
      subject to ATTACHMENT A; however, these funds shall be invested in  
      accordance with the Public Funds Investment Act. 

 
9.0       COLLATERALIZATION: 
 

Full collateralization is required for all Housing Authority investments.  In order to 
protect the Housing Authority assets collateralization of one-hundred percent (100%) is 
required at all times. All collateral shall conform to those investment instruments listed in 
ATTACHMENT A of the Public Funds Investment Act. 

 
Collateral will always be held by an independent third party with whom the financial 
institution or broker/dealer has a current custodial agreement. A clearly marked evidence 
of ownership or safekeeping receipt must be available to the Housing Authority. 

 
Collateral substitution may be allowed when the substituted collateral is on the approved 
list of investments listed in ATTACHMENT A or the Public Funds Investment Act. 
 

10.0     DIVERSIFICATION: 
 

The San Antonio Housing Authority will diversify its investments by security type and 
institution. With the exception of U. S. Treasury securities and authorized investment 
pools, no more than 50% of the San Antonio Housing Authority total investment 

Page 116 of 246



 

portfolio will be invested in a single security type or in securities issued by a single 
financial institution or broker/dealer. 

 
11.0     MAXIMUM MATURITIES: 
 

11.1 Operating Funds:  To the extent possible the San Antonio Housing Authority will 
attempt to match its investments with anticipated cash flow requirements.  Unless 
matched to a specific cash flow, the Authority will not directly invest in securities 
maturing more than three years (3) from the date of purchase.  This maximum 
maturity policy applies to all operating funds. 

 
11.2 Non-operating or excess funds:  Funds in excess of operating needs, unrestricted 

funds, foundation funds, bond proceeds, reserves, escrow funds, and other funds 
not required for operations may be held in securities without regard to the three 
year (3) limitation referenced in Section 11.1.  The Investment Officer shall 
assure that sufficient liquidity exists at all times to meeting operating 
commitments. 

 
12.0     INTERNAL CONTROL: 
 

The Investment Officer shall establish an annual process of independent review as part of 
the annual audit.  This review will provide internal control by assuring compliance with 
policies and procedures. 

 
13.0     PERFORMANCE STANDARDS AND REPORTING: 
 

As required by Section 2256 of the Public Funds Act, at least quarterly, the Investment 
Officer or designee will prepare an investment report for the Housing Authority Board of 
Commissioners.  The report shall contain the name of the financial institution or 
broker/dealer holding the investment, the investment position, the cost of the investment, 
the fair market value, the purchase date, maturity date, and any interest accrued. 
Investment performance will be measured by standards set by the U.S. Department of 
Housing and Urban Development. 

 
14.0     INVESTMENT POLICY ADOPTION: 
 

The San Antonio Housing Authority investment policy shall be adopted by resolution of 
the Board of Commissioners. The policy shall be reviewed on a periodic basis and 
revised by the Investment Officer as necessary.  It is the intent of the Housing Authority 
that if any changes of federal or State of Texas laws affect this policy, the new law or 
change becomes effective as stated and this policy is automatically conformed to existing 
law. 

 
 
 

Page 117 of 246



 

 
15.0     EXEMPTION: 
 

Any investment currently held that does not meet the guidelines of this policy shall be 
exempted from the requirements contained herein. At maturity or liquidation, such funds 
shall be reinvested only as provided by this policy. 
 

  

Page 118 of 246



 

ATTACHMENT A 
 

INVESTMENT INSTRUMENTS APPROVED BY HUD 
 
 

1. DIRECT OBLIGATION OF THE FEDERAL GOVERNMENT BACKED BY THE 
FULL FAITH AND CREDIT OF THE UNITED STATES 

 
a. U.S. Treasury Bills 

 
 

b. U. S. Treasury Notes and Bonds 
 

 
 
(1) U.S. Treasury Notes 
 

 
 

(2) U.S. Treasury Bonds 
 

 
 
2. OBLIGATIONS OF FEDERAL GOVERNMENT AGENCIES 
 

a. Federal Financing Bank (FFB) 
 

 
b. Government National Mortgage Association (GNMA).  Mortgage-Backed 

Securities (GNMA I and GNMA II) 
 

 
c. GNMA Participation Certifies 

 
 

d. Maritime Administration Merchant Marine Bonds, Notes, and Obligations 
 

 
e. Small Business Administration (SBA).  Small Business Investment Corporation 

(SBIC) Debentures 
 

 
f. Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA) Power Bonds and Notes 

 
  

Page 119 of 246



 

3. SECURITIES OF GOVERNMENT-SPONSORED AGENCIES 
 

a. Farm Credit Consolidated System-Wide Discount Notes 
 
 

b. Federal Farm Credit Banks Consolidated System-Wide Bonds 
 
 

c. Federal Home Loan Banks Consolidated Obligations 
 

These securities are the secured joint and several obligations of the Federal Home 
Loan Banks comprised of: 
 
(1) Bonds 

 
 

(2) Notes 
 
 

(3) Discount Notes 
 
 

d. FHLMC Mortgage Participation Certificates (PC) (Guaranteed) 
 

 
 

e. FHLMC Collateralized Mortgage Obligations (CMOs) 
 
 

f. Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA) Debentures 
 
 

g. FNMA Notes 
 

 
 

h. FNMA Short-Term Discount Notes 
 

 
 

i. FNMA Capital Debentures 
 

 
 

j. Student Loan Marketing Associations (SLMA) Obligations 

Page 120 of 246



 

 
SLMA issues obligations comprises of guaranteed student loans as follows: 
 
(1) Floating Rate and Master Notes 

 
 

 
(2) The Series E and F Floating Rate Notes 

 
 

 
(3) Zero Coupon Notes 

 
 
4. DEMAND AND SAVINGS DEPOSITS 
 

 
 
5. MONEY-MARKET DEPOSIT ACCOUNT 
 

 
 
6. MUNICIPAL DEPOSITORY FUND 
 

 
 
7. SUPER NOW  ACCOUNTS 
 

 
 

8. CERTIFICATES OF DEPOSIT 
 

a. Certificates of Deposit are permitted at depository institutions that are insured by 
an agency of the Federal Government.  Caution must be exercised for certificates 
exceeding the $250,000 insurance limit or when the term is longer than 30-90 
days.  The new FDIC limit of $250,000 is in effect through December 2013. 
Although the certificates’ rate of return may be attractive for larger amounts and 
longer terms, U. S. treasury Securities offer superior safety and liquidity for the 
same amounts and terms.  Certificates shall be in the HA’s name.  In addition a 
General Depository Agreement must be executed by each financial institution that 
issues a Certificate of Deposit. 

 
b. Certificate amounts above $250,000 are permitted provided that the excess is 100 

percent collateralized by clearly identified (not pooled) U.S. Government 
securities.  Possession of the collateral securities and a continuous perfected 

Page 121 of 246



 

security interest may be the only sure protection against loss in case of bank 
failure. 

 
c. Brokered deposits should be avoided because it is impossible to get $100,000 

federal insurance on a number of deposits placed by brokers. 
 
 
9. REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS 
 

Repurchase (repos) agreements for a term not to exceed 30 days may be entered into with 
Federally insured depository institution to purchase and sale of securities identified under 
subparagraphs b, c and d.  A repurchase agreement is an agreement negotiated with a 
bank usually for a short period (1 to 7 days) where in securities approved for investment 
are purchased from that bank at a stated price with the bank agreeing to repurchase them 
on a specified date for a specified amount.  The minimum may vary, although it is usually 
$100,000.  There are three main types: (1) fixed term, where both parties are bound to the 
negotiated time period; (2) demand, where the agreement stays in effect until terminated 
by either party, and; (3) day-to-day, where daily renewal is by mutual consent and 
24-hour notice is required for termination.  The HA should review existing and future 
repos for compliance with the following certifications.  Prior approval by HUD is not 
necessary, however, the repos seller depository or its agency must provide a written 
certification to HUD, Assistant Secretary for Public and Indian Housing (Office of 
Finance and Budget), the Area Office, and to the HA. 
 
a. that the depository’s repo program complies with applicable Federal and State 

statutes and regulations and that the program does not involve sales or loans of 
Federal securities by securities dealer that are not regulated or that report to the 
Federal Reserve Board; 

 
b. that the depository owns the underlying Federal securities (approved for 

repurchase under HUD guidelines) when the repo interest is sold and that the 
value of the securities is equal to or greater than the amount the HA pays for the 
repo; 

 
c. that the HA has possession of the securities (or the HA will take possession of the 

securities on behalf of the HA) as a bailee (evidenced by a safe keeping receipt 
and a written bailment for hire contract), from the time the repo interest is sold to 
the HA and will be (or is expected to be) maintained for the full term of the repo; 

 
d. that the repo agreement and any related documents identify specific Federal 

securities related to the specific repo purchased by the HA; 
 

e. that the repo interest does not represent any interest in a pool or fund of Federal 
securities for which registration under the Investment Company Act of 1940 may 
be required; 

Page 122 of 246



 

 
f. that the HA will have a continuous perfected security interest in the underlying 

Federal securities under State or Federal law for the full term of the repo 
(disclosing the method by which perfection has or will be accomplished, i.e., by 
possession, filing, registration of book-entry securities) and/or Federal preemption 
of State law by Federal regulation; 

 
g. that the depository or a reporting dealer selling the repo has not received any 

adverse financial report from a credit reporting agency, State or Federal 
regulatory agency; and 

 
h. that the depository will not substitute other securities as collateral, except to 

increase the value of the repo security to match the repo’s purchase price. 
 
10. SWEEP ACCOUNTS 
 

 
11. SEPARATE TRADING OF REGISTERED INTEREST AND PRINCIPAL OF 

SECURITIES (STRIPS) 
 

 
12. MUTUAL FUNDS 
 

A Mutual Fund (Fund) is an investment company that makes investments on behalf of 
individuals and institutions.  The Fund pools the money of the investors and buys various 
securities that are consistent with the Fund’s objective. 
 
a. Mutual Fund Criteria: The Fund shall be organized as a no-load, open-end, 

diversified management company and its shares shall be registered under the 
Securities Act of 1993.  The Fund shall be under the control of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, Investment Adviser Act of 1940 and the Investment 
Company Act of 1940.  The investment objective of the Fund shall be to obtain as 
much income as possible consistent with the preservation, conservation and 
stability of capital.  The mutual fund objective cannot be changed without the 
prior approval of fund shareholders. 

 
b. The securities purchased by the Fund shall be on the HUD-approved list of 

investment securities.  The fund will not engage in options or financial futures. 
The HA shall limit the amount of funds invested in the Fund to no more than 20 
percent of the HA’s available investment funds.  The Fund shall disclose clearly 
the basis of earnings and how they are distributed.  The HA shall obtain a 
statement of potential default and risk.  The HA’s invested funds shall be 
accessible to the HA daily.  It shall be demonstrated that any limitations on 
withdrawals will not impair the HA’s day-to-day cash management needs. 

 

Page 123 of 246



 

c. The management fee shall be fixed at a reasonable amount.  The Fund shall 
disclose the relationships of the investment advisor, manager, trustee, custodian 
and transfer agent.  The Fund shall clearly state all services (such as wire transfers 
and check writing privileges) and charges. 

 
d. Investment in the Fund shall be authorized by a Board Resolution. A certified             

copy of the resolution shall accompany the initial application for the Fund.  
 
 
13. EFFECT OF LOSS OF REQUIRED RATING 

 
An investment that requires a minimum rating under this section does not qualify as an 
authorized investment during the period the investment does not have the minimum 
rating.  Management has the authority to waive the minimum portfolio credit quality if 
the quality decline is due to a downgrade or default of U.S. Government securities.  The 
San Antonio Housing Authority shall take all prudent measures that are consistent with 
its investment policy to liquidate an investment that does not have the minimum rating. 

 
 

Page 124 of 246



 
 
SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY      February 7, 2019

 

  BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
  
RESOLUTION 5904, AUTHORIZING THE AWARD OF A CONTRACT FOR WHEATLEY INFILL                     
NEW HOME CONSTRUCTION TO TERRAMARK INTERESTS, LLC; AUTHORIZING THE                 
PRESIDENT AND CEO, AND HIS DESIGNATED STAFF TO NEGOTIATE TERMS WITH BUILDER                       
ON BEHALF OF THE AGENCY; AND EXECUTE ALL DOCUMENTS IN CONNECTION                     
THEREWITH 
 
 
_____________________ ______________________ _______________________  
David Nisivoccia Steven Morando Lorraine Robles 
President and CEO Director of Procurement Director of Development 
  and General Services                      Services and Neighborhood 

Revitalization
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
REQUESTED ACTION: 
Consideration and approval regarding Resolution 5904, authorizing the award of a contract for                         
Wheatley Infill New Home Construction to Terramark Interests, LLC; authorizing the President                       
and CEO, and his designated staff to negotiate terms with builder on behalf of the agency; and                                 
execute all documents in connection therewith. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
The contractor is fully responsible for all costs associated with the financing, construction and                           
sale of the houses. SAHA will convey the land at no cost to the builder.   
 
SAHA is requesting Board approval for Resolution 5905, authorizing the conveyance of fifteen                         
lots to Terramark Interests, LLC for the construction of affordable single-family houses, as part of                             
the Wheatley Choice Neighborhood Infill Strategy. 
 
The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), has approved both the strategy,                           
and the use of conveyance of the lots, as an incentive to Developers, who will be responsible for                                   
construction and sale of the single family homes to families earning up to 120% of area median                                 
income. The total to acquire the lots was $156,485.00. SAHA utilized Choice CCI, Citibank, and                             
DSNR funds to acquire the lots for purposes of implementing the CCI plan. The current appraised                               
value of the fifteen lots is approximately $450,000.00. 
 
SUMMARY: 
SAHA requires the services of a contractor to construct single family homes on fifteen lots as part                                 
of the Wheatley Choice Neighborhood Implementation Grant. SAHA will contribute the land at no                           
cost to the contractor. The contractor is responsible for all costs associated with financing,                           
building and selling the homes. The homes must be sold to buyers with target income levels of                                 
no more than 120% of Area Median Income (AMI) for San Antonio. In order to preserve                               
affordability, if the home is sold by the initial buyer within the first twenty years of home                                 
ownership, it must be sold to a buyer whose income also does not exceed 120% of AMI                                 
(percentage of AMI adjusted to year of sale). The contractor shall agree to place restrictive                             
covenants on the deed to buyers, which will remain on the property for twenty years from the                                 
original date of sale.   

Page 125 of 246



 
 
SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY      February 7, 2019

 

 
On November 9, 2018, SAHA issued a “Request For Qualifications” (RFQ) #1811-909-23-4858 for                         
Wheatley Infill New Home Construction, which closed on December 4, 2018. The RFQ was                           
published on the SAHA website, Electronic State Business Daily (ESBD), The Hart Beat, posted on                             
NAHRO, Public Purchase and direct solicited to 216 contractors. SAHA received one response to                           
this solicitation from Terramark Interests, LLC. Initially, the selection process for the awarded                         
builder was to include two parts: proposals received in response to the RFQ were to be                               
evaluated on experience in residential construction and building of affordable housing, financial                       
capability, project management approach, and sales plan for the new homes. After scoring the                           
responses, SAHA intended to develop a short list of qualified entities who would be asked to                               
respond to a Request For Proposals that would also be scored. SAHA’s evaluation committee for                             
this project would then conduct interviews with the highest rated responsive and responsible                         
proposers. Since there was only one response received to the solicitation, and since Terramark                           
Interests, LLC met all the requirements of the RFQ, staff from SAHA’s Development Services,                           
Legal, and Procurement Departments met with Terramark Interests on January 8, 2018. SAHA                         
discussed project goals and schedule with Terramark to ensure the program’s successful                       
implementation.   
 
Terramark Urban Homes is the residential development division of The Terramark Companies, a                         
Houston, TX, based group of affiliated real estate development enterprises founded in 1986.                         
They also have an office in San Antonio. Terramark Urban Homes was established as the                             
successor to Terramark Homes, founded in 2001. Terramark Urban Homes focuses primarily on                         
urban infill development, having extensive experience in design and development of townhomes,                       
patio homes, single family homes and affordable housing. Terramark purchased six lots on Leigh                           
Street from SAHA and developed six two-story homes (three of which had to meet affordability                             
standards). Their San Antonio projects include, but are not limited to, the following: sixteen                           
single-family, three and four bedroom homes and townhomes in the Terra Del Sol and Mira Vista                               
subdivisions; four contemporary three bedroom, freestanding townhomes in the King William                     
area; eleven contemporary two and three bedroom free-standing townhomes in Tobin Hill; nine                         
three bedroom free-standing patio homes in Tobin Hill; twelve contemporary two and three                         
bedroom free-standing patio homes in the Dignowity Hill Historic District; twelve contemporary                       
three bedroom free-standing townhomes with roof balconies in Tobin Hill; four single family                         
homes in the Historic Tobin Hill Community; twenty Spanish-style two and three story patio                           
homes near the Pearl Brewery; twelve single family townhomes northeast of downtown San                         
Antonio; six two-story single family homes on Mistletoe Avenue and N. St. Mary’s Street; eight                             
two-story homes (six of the eight are constructed as duplexes) in the Monte Vista Terrace                             
neighborhood; and six two-story homes in the Lavaca neighborhood on Leigh Street. Terramark’s                         
Section 3 Good Faith Effort Plan includes teaching a first-time home buyer seminar for buyers                             
purchasing any Wheatley Infill home developed by Terramark. The seminar will cover basic                         
exterior and interior home maintenance. 
 
CONTRACT OVERSIGHT: 
Contract oversight will be provided by Lorraine Robles, Director of Development Services and                         
Neighborhood Revitalization, who will monitor the vendor’s adherence to contract requirements                     
and performance and Linda Deatrick, a contract consultant for DSNR, will act as project manager,                             
working directly with Terramark on design and construction issues. The Procurement Department                       
will be responsible to ensure the vendor submits the Contractor’s Section 3 Compliance report                           
on a monthly basis. 

Page 126 of 246



 
 
SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY      February 7, 2019

 

 
STRATEGIC GOAL: 
Strategically expand the supply of affordable housing. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Resolution 5904 
Presentation 
Advertisement List 
 

Page 127 of 246



 

 
San Antonio Housing Authority 

Resolution 5904 
 

RESOLUTION 5904, AUTHORIZING THE AWARD OF A CONTRACT FOR WHEATLEY INFILL                     
NEW HOME CONSTRUCTION TO TERRAMARK INTERESTS, LLC; AUTHORIZING THE                 
PRESIDENT AND CEO, AND HIS DESIGNATED STAFF TO NEGOTIATE TERMS WITH BUILDER                       
ON BEHALF OF THE AGENCY; AND EXECUTE ALL DOCUMENTS IN CONNECTION                     
THEREWITH 
   
WHEREAS, on November 9, 2018, SAHA issued a “Request For Qualifications” (RFQ)                       
#1811-909-23-4858 for Wheatley Infill New Home Construction, which closed on December 4,                       
2018; and  
 
WHEREAS, one response was received to the RFQ from Terramark Interests, LLC; and  
  
WHEREAS, Terramark Interests, LLC met all the requirements of the RFQ and is being                           
recommended for contract award. Staff from SAHA’s Development Services, Legal, and                     
Procurement Departments met with Terramark Interests on January 8, 2018, to discuss project                         
goals and schedule to ensure the program’s successful implementation; and 
  
WHEREAS, the contractor is fully responsible for all costs associated with the financing,                         
construction and sale of the houses. SAHA will convey the land at no cost to the builder.   
 
SAHA is requesting Board approval for Resolution 5905, authorizing the conveyance of fifteen                         
lots to Terramark Interests, LLC for the construction of affordable single-family houses, as part of                             
the Wheatley Choice Neighborhood Infill Strategy. 
 
The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development has approved both the strategy and                           
the use of conveyance of the lots, as an incentive to Developers, who will be responsible for                                 
construction, and sale of the single family homes to families earning up to 120% of area median                                 
income. The total to acquire the lots was $156,485.00. SAHA utilized Choice CCI, Citibank, and                             
DSNR funds to acquire the lots for purposes of implementing the Infill Strategy. The current                             
appraised value of the fifteen lots is approximately $450,000.00; and 
 
WHEREAS, staff requests the Board of Commissioners authorize the President and CEO, or                         
designee, to execute all documents associated with this contract. 
  
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Commissioners of SAHA hereby: 
  

1) Approves Resolution 5904, authorizing the award of a contract for Wheatley Infill New                         
Home Construction to Terramark Interests, LLC; authorizing the President and CEO,                     
and his designated staff to negotiate terms with builder on behalf of the agency; and                             
execute all documents in connection therewith. 

   
2)  Authorizes the President and CEO, or designee, to execute all necessary documents                       

associated with this contract. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 128 of 246



 

 
  
Passed and approved the 7th day of February 2019. 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Morris A. Stribling, DPM  
Chair, Board of Commissioners 
 
Attested and approved as to form: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
David Nisivoccia 
President and CEO 

Page 129 of 246



TERRAMARK URBAN HOMES
SAHA Operations Presentation

WHEATLEY INFILL
NEW HOME CONSTRUCTION
Submi�ed to Housing Authority of
The City of San Antonio, Texas And A�liated Entities

905 N. Pine, San Antonio, Texas 78202      TerramarkTX.com      O�ce: 210-588-9212

RFQ# 1811 - 909 - 23 - 4858

Page 130 of 246



905 N. Pine, San Antonio, Texas 78202      TerramarkTX.com      O�ce: 210-588-9212

WHEATLEY INFILL NEW HOME CONSTRUCTION

RFQ# 1811 - 909 - 23 - 4858

CEO & Founder: Charles H. Turner

Founded in 2010, Terramark Urban Homes began to develop
urban in�ll homes in San Antonio. Terramark strives to continue
to design and construct a�ordable, modern homes throughout
the San Antonio area, focusing on the city’s urban core. 

Departments:

- Land Acquisition
- Entitlement
- Design
- Construction

Projects completed: 17

Projects in construction: 8

Neighborhood Housing Services Homes completed: 16 

SAHA Leigh Street Homes completed: 6

Tobin Hill Urban Bungalow’s

Urban at Olive

Melrose Place
200 & 204 Melrose Place

603 Burleson

435 Paschal St

Page 131 of 246



905 N. Pine, San Antonio, Texas 78202      TerramarkTX.com      O�ce: 210-588-9212

WHEATLEY INFILL NEW HOME CONSTRUCTION

RFQ# 1811 - 909 - 23 - 4858

A collection of 16 single-family, three and 
four bedrooms homes and townhomes in 

the Terra Del Sol and Mira Vista
subdivisions in San Antonio, Texas.

A collection of 4 contemporary three bedroom, 
freestanding  townhomes located on Cevallos 

Street in the King Williams / South Town area of 
San Antonio, Texas.

A collection of 11 contemporary two
 and three bedroom free-standing townhomes 

located in Tobin Hill, San Antonio, Texas.

A collection of 12 contemporary two 
and  three bedroom free-standing patio 

homes located in the Dignowity Hill 
Historic District, San Antonio, Texas.

A collection of 4-bungalow style 
three-bedroom detached patio 
homes located in the Tobin Hill 

Historic District, San Antonio, Texas.

A collection of 9 contemporary three-bedroom 
freestanding patio homes located 

two blocks north of the Ogden Modern 
project in Tobin Hill, San Antonio, Texas.

A collection of 12 contemporary 
three-bedroom free-standing townhomes 

with roof balconies located in 
Tobin Hill, San Antonio, Texas.

A collection of 9 free-standing homes 
with luxurious master bathrooms, 

hardwood �ooring throughout, and 
spacious closets located in Houston’s 

Midtown, surrounded by Downtown, 
Montrose, Medical Center 
and the Museum District.

NHS of San Antonio Cevallos Modern Ogden Modern Cherry Modern

Uptown Modern City View Modern Carree Court Kendall Urban Bungalows

Page 132 of 246



905 N. Pine, San Antonio, Texas 78202      TerramarkTX.com      O�ce: 210-588-9212

WHEATLEY INFILL NEW HOME CONSTRUCTION

RFQ# 1811 - 909 - 23 - 4858

An innovative collection of 4 
single-family homes to be constructed in the 

historic Tobin Hill community, located 
north of downtown San Antonio.

A collection of a 22 single-family housing 
development located at Burleson 

and North Olive Street in the 
Dignowity Hill neighborhood.

A collection of 23 Spanish style, two 
& three-story patio homes, located

one block east of Broadway on
Brahan Boulevard in the historic 

Westfort community near the acclaimed
Pearl Brewery, San Antonio Texas.

A collection of 12 three-story,
single-family townhomes on
newly developed lots, within
walking distance of the Pearl

Brewery, just northeast of
downtown San Antonio.

A collection of a 14 three
story, single-family housing located at 
Lewis and Cypress Street in Tobin Hill, 

overlooking the city and minutes 
away from bars, restaurants and parks.

A collection of a 6 two-story,
single-family homes located on

Mistletoe Avenue. The development is 
right o� San Antonio’s N. St. Mary’s St,

 which is known for its nightlife.

A collection of 8 two-story homes. Six 
of the eight homes are constructed

as a duplex. Melrose Place is located in 
the historical neighborhood of 

Olmos Park, right of McCullough.

Tobin Hill Urban Bungalow Urban at Olive Westfort Urban Villas The District Lo�s

The Modern at Crocke� Mistletoe Lane Melrose Place Leigh Street

Leigh Street Residences is a collection 
 of 6 two-story homes located in the 

heart of Lavaca neighborhood in
San Antonio. Homes are in close 

proximity to downtown, the 
Alamodome and 

the flourishing Hemisfair Park.

Page 133 of 246



905 N. Pine, San Antonio, Texas 78202      TerramarkTX.com      O�ce: 210-588-9212

WHEATLEY INFILL NEW HOME CONSTRUCTION

RFQ# 1811 - 909 - 23 - 4858

Pine at Hays is a collection 3 two-story 
homes located near the Hays Street 
bridge in the historic neighborhood 

of Dignowity Hill.

A set of three-story homes nestled between 
the neighborhoods of Tobin Hill and Monte Vista. 

These homes offer a unique view of downtown 
San Antonio from their roofdeck and close to 

local eateries, trails and parks.

City Center Lo�s is a �rst-of-its-kind brownstone 
development near historic downtown San Antonio. 
The Live-Work units feature downstairs �ex rooms 

that can be a 3rd bedroom or o�ce 
with street frontage. Construction will begin in the 

Spring of 2019 on Phase 1 of the 28 unit 
development.

Tobin Hill Urban Bungalow Urban at Olive Westfort Urban Villas

Page 134 of 246



WHEATLEY INFILL NEW HOME CONSTRUCTION

RFQ# 1811 - 909 - 23 - 4858

Lorem ipsum

519 Arthur

209 Gabriel

1439 Lamar

601 Arthur
607 Arthur

611 Arthur

1533 Hays1418 Hays 1535 Hays

1718 BurnetLorem ipsum1714 Burnet

Page 135 of 246



WHEATLEY INFILL NEW HOME CONSTRUCTION

RFQ# 1811 - 909 - 23 - 4858

818 Poinse�ia

939 Poinse�ia 943 Poinse�ia
1071 Poinse�ia

Page 136 of 246



WHEATLEY INFILL NEW HOME CONSTRUCTION

RFQ# 1811 - 909 - 23 - 4858

(Zone: MF-33)
1533 & 1535 Hays St.

10
6.

0'

41.0'

5'
 B

LD
G

. S
E

TB
A

C
K

10' BLDG. SETBACK

10' BLDG. SETBACK

HAYS STREET
(58.69' R.O.W.)

ARTHUR STREET
(40.0' R.O.W.)

41.0'

8" HDPE 407' @ 0.7%

8" PVC 446' @ 0.42%)
6" AC WATER MAIN

10' BLDG. SETBACK

10' BLDG. SETBACK

43.0'

43.0'

LO
C

K
H

A
R

T
ST

R
EE

T
(5

1.
0'

 R
.O

.W
.)

10
6.

0'

5'
 B

LD
G

. S
E

TB
A

C
K

5'
 B

LD
G

. S
E

TB
A

C
K

5'
 B

LD
G

. S
E

TB
A

C
K

10
6.

0'

41.0'

HAYS STREET
(58.69' R.O.W.)

ARTHUR STREET
(40.0' R.O.W.)

41.0' 43.0'

43.0'

LO
C

K
H

A
R

T
ST

R
EE

T
(5

1.
0'

 R
.O

.W
.)

NHS Plan 1268

3 Bed / 2 Bath
2 Story Townhome

1 Story Townhome
2 Bed / 1 Bath

NHS Plan 888

1 Story Townhome
2 Bed / 1 Bath

NHS Plan 888
NHS Plan 1268

3 Bed / 2 Bath
2 Story Townhome

10
6.

0'

Page 137 of 246



WHEATLEY INFILL NEW HOME CONSTRUCTION

RFQ# 1811 - 909 - 23 - 4858

San Gabriel

2 Bedroom
1 Bath 

888 Square Feet

Elevation  B

Elevation  A

Page 138 of 246



WHEATLEY INFILL NEW HOME CONSTRUCTION

RFQ# 1811 - 909 - 23 - 4858

San Miguel

3 Bedroom
2.5 Bath 

1,268 Square Feet

Elevation  B

Elevation  A

Page 139 of 246



Page 140 of 246



Page 141 of 246



Page 142 of 246



Page 143 of 246



Page 144 of 246



Page 145 of 246



Page 146 of 246



Page 147 of 246



 
 
SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY                                                                    February 7, 2019 
 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
   
Resolution 5905, authorizing conveyance of fifteen lots to Terramark Interests, LLC for the                         
construction of affordable single-family houses as part of the Wheatley Choice Neighborhood                       
Infill Strategy 
   
 
____________________________     ____________________________  
David Nisivoccia     Arrie B. Porter 
President and CEO   Assistant Director of Choice  

 Neighborhood 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
REQUESTED ACTION: 
Consideration and approval regarding Resolution 5905, authorizing conveyance of fifteen lots to                       
Terramark Interests, LLC for the construction of affordable single-family houses as part of the                           
Wheatley Choice Neighborhood Infill Strategy. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) has approved both the strategy                           
and the use of conveyance of the lots, as an incentive to developers, who will be responsible for                                   
construction and sale of the single family homes to families earning up to 120% of area median                                 
income. SAHA used CCI, DSNR, and Citibank funds, totaling $156,485.00 to acquire lots. The                           
total number of lots held also includes several lots within the footprint, previously owned by                             
SAHA. These lots will be utilized for purposes of implementing the Infill Strategy. The current                             
appraised value for the fifteen lots is approximately $450,000.00. 
 
SUMMARY: 
In December of 2012, the San Antonio Housing Authority (SAHA) was awarded a Choice                           
Neighborhood Implementation Grant, in the amount of $29.7 million dollars, which involves                       
strategies for People, Housing, and Neighborhood. The neighborhood portion of the grant, also                         
known as the Critical Communities Improvement (CCI) Plan, includes six strategies to address                         
deficiencies in the neighborhood surrounding the redeveloped housing site. 
 
The first is the Infill Strategy to build single family homes, on vacant lots; thereby, repurposing                               
vacant land to provide affordable family housing, while stabilizing the neighborhood. The fifteen                         
parcels, all located in San Antonio, Texas, include the following addresses: 
 

519 Arthur 1718 Burnet  1439 Lamar 
601 Arthur 209 Gabriel 818 Poinsettia 
607 Arthur 1418 Hays 939 Poinsettia 
611 Arthur 1533 Hays 943 Poinsettia 
1714 Burnet 1535 Hays 1071 Poinsettia 

 
Since the Choice Initiative’s inception, neighborhood residents have voiced their desire for single                         
family, affordable homes. SAHA has acquired fifteen lots, which it intends to convey to the                             
builder, Terramark Interests, LLC; thereby, reducing the cost of the homes and increasing their                           
affordability.  

Page 148 of 246



 
 
SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY                                                                    February 7, 2019 
 

 
STRATEGIC GOAL: 
Empower and equip families to improve their quality of life and achieve economic stability; and                             
preserve and improve existing affordable housing resources and opportunities. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Resolution 5905 
Map 
 
 
 

Page 149 of 246



 
 

San Antonio Housing Authority 
Resolution  5905 

 
Resolution 5905, authorizing conveyance of fifteen lots to Terramark Interests, LLC for the             
construction of affordable single-family houses as part of the Wheatley Choice Neighborhood            
Infill Strategy 
  
WHEREAS, on December 2012, the San Antonio Housing Authority (SAHA) was awarded a Choice                           
Neighborhood Implementation Grant, in the amount of $29.7 million dollars, which involves strategies                         
for People, Housing, and Neighborhood; and  
  
WHEREAS, the neighborhood portion of the grant, also known as the Critical Communities                         
Improvement (CCI) Plan, includes six strategies, to address the deficiencies in the neighborhood                         
surrounding the redeveloped housing site; and 
  
WHEREAS, the first strategy is Infill, which involves constructing single family homes on vacant lots;                             
thereby, repurposing vacant land to provide affordable family housing, while stabilizing the                       
neighborhood; and  
 
WHEREAS, SAHA has acquired fifteen lots for the purpose of implementation of the Infill Strategy;                             
and 
 
WHEREAS, SAHA wishes to convey the following fifteen lots to Terramark Construction LLC, for                           
development of single family homes: 
 

519 Arthur 1718 Burnet                                1439 Lamar 
601 Arthur 209 Gabriel 818 Poinsettia 
607 Arthur 1418 Hays 939 Poinsettia 
611 Arthur 1533 Hays 943 Poinsettia 
1714 Burnet 1535 Hays 1071 Poinsettia 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Commissioners of SAHA hereby: 
 

1) Approves Resolution 5905, authorizing conveyance of fifteen lots to Terramark Interests, LLC                       
for the construction of affordable single-family houses as part of the Wheatley Choice                         
Neighborhood Infill Strategy. 
 

2) Authorizes the President and CEO, or designee to execute all necessary documents and                         
extensions associated with this contract. 
 

Passed and approved the 7th day of February 2019. 
 
____________________________ 
Morris Stribling, DPM Attested and approved as to form: 
Chair, Board of Commissioners  

_____________________________ 
David Nisivoccia 
President and CEO 

Page 150 of 246



OPPORTUNITY LIVES HERE
@HousingSAT

CONVEYANCE OF FIFTEEN INFILL LOTS
1

Page 151 of 246



 
 
SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY                                                                    February 7, 2019 
 

   BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
   
RESOLUTION 5902, TO AMEND THE MERCED HOUSING TEXAS CONTRACT, TO INCLUDE A                       
PREVIOUSLY ALLOCATED AMOUNT OF $200,000.00, FOR OWNER OCCUPIED REHAB, AND                   
EXTERIOR ONLY IMPROVEMENTS 
   
 
____________________________    _____________________________  
David Nisivoccia      Arrie B. Porter 
President and CEO      Assistant Director of Choice  

Neighborhood   
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
REQUESTED ACTION: 
Consideration and approval regarding Resolution 5902, to amend the Merced Housing Texas                       
Contract, to include a previously allocated amount of $200,000.00, for Owner Occupied Rehab,                         
and Exterior Only Improvements. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
The $200,000.00 was included in the overall $1,415,256.00, Choice Neighborhood                   
Implementation Grant Critical Community Improvements budget, and was previously approved                   
and allocated by the U.S. Department of Housing, and Urban Development (HUD).  
 
SUMMARY: 
On August 4, 2016, the SAHA Board of Commissioners approved Resolution 5629, authorizing                         
the selection of Merced Housing for rehabilitation services required to fulfill the Choice                         
Neighborhood Owner Occupied Rehabilitation strategy. The Board approved Choice funding in                     
the amount of $1,215,256.00 for this strategy; however, HUD had previously approved an                         
additional $200,000.00 for a total budget of $1,415,256.00. During a reconciliation of the Choice                           
Neighborhood budget, it was discovered that the HUD budget amount did not match the Board                             
approved Merced Housing contract. SAHA is therefore amending the contract to include an                         
amount not to exceed $200,000.00 in Choice funding for Contractor’s services, for the Choice                           
Neighborhood Owner Occupied Rehab program.  
 
The program affords property owners the opportunity to make up to $47,407.00, in                         
improvements to their homes, through a forgivable loan. 
 
STRATEGIC GOAL: 
Empower and equip families to improve their quality of life and achieve economic stability and                             
preserve and improve existing affordable housing resources and opportunities. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Resolution 5902 
Contract Amendment 
 

Page 152 of 246



 
 

San Antonio Housing Authority 
Resolution 5902 

 
RESOLUTION 5902, TO AMEND THE MERCED HOUSING TEXAS CONTRACT, TO INCLUDE A                       
PREVIOUSLY ALLOCATED AMOUNT OF $200,000.00, FOR OWNER OCCUPIED REHAB, AND                   
EXTERIOR ONLY IMPROVEMENTS 
 
WHEREAS, the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), awarded the San                         
Antonio Housing Authority (SAHA) a Choice Neighborhood Initiative Grant, in December 2012;                       
and 
 
WHEREAS, as part of the Choice Critical Community Improvement (CCI) plan, Merced Housing                         
Texas administers the Owner-Occupied Rehab program; and 
 
WHEREAS, HUD approved an additional $200,000.00, to the Merced contract, for Exterior                       
Improvements, bringing the total budgeted program amount to $1,415,256.00; and  
 
WHEREAS, the initial Board request did not reflect the additional $200,000.00. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Commissioners of SAHA hereby: 
 

1) Approves Resolution 5902, to amend the Merced Housing Texas contract, to include a                         
previously allocated amount of $200,000.00, for owner Occupied Rehab, and Exterior                     
Only Improvements. 
 

2) Authorizes the President and CEO, or designee, to execute any and all necessary                         
documents and extensions associated with this document. 
 

Passed and approved the 7th day of February 2019. 
 
 
____________________________ 
Morris Stribling, DPM 
Chair, Board of Commissioners 
 
Attested and approved as to form: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
David Nisivoccia 
President and CEO 

Page 153 of 246



 

Amendment #2 
  

Agreement entered into between the Housing Authority of the City of San            
Antonio, Texas d/b/a San Antonio Housing Authority (SAHA) and Merced Housing           
Texas dated August 19, 2018, as amended on November 30, 2018 (Amendment #1)             
is hereby amended as follows. 
  
1. SAHA agrees to pay an additional amount not to exceed $200,000.00 out of             

Choice CCI funds for Contractor’s services, and the services of all           
third-party service providers, subconsultants and subcontractors retained       
by Contractor with prior SAHA approval.  

 
2. All other terms and conditions in the original Agreement as amended by              

Amendment #1 shall continue in full force and effect. 
 
3.               The effective date of this Amendment shall be December 21, 2018. 
  
 

Housing Authority of the City of San Antonio, Texas 
818 S. Flores 

San Antonio, Texas 78204 
 
 

  By:   __________________ Date:  _______________ 
           David Nisivoccia 
           President and CEO  

 
Merced Housing Texas 

212 W Laurel Street 
San Antonio, Texas 78212 

 
 

 By:___________________                                                     Date: _______________ 
 

  
 Title: ___________________ 

 

Page 154 of 246



 
 
SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY                                                                    February 7, 2019 

 

   BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 

RESOLUTION 5906, AUTHORIZING THE AWARD OF A CONTRACT FOR PHILLIS WHEATLEY                     
PARK HARDSCAPE CONSTRUCTION TO STRAIGHT LINE MANAGEMENT, LLC (AABE, DBE,                   
ESBE, MBE, SBE, WBE, SECTION 3 BUSINESS) FOR AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED                         
$686,888.00 
 
 
_____________________ ______________________ _______________________  
David Nisivoccia Steven Morando Lorraine Robles 
President and CEO Director of Procurement Director of Development 
  and General Services                      Services and Neighborhood   

Revitalization
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
REQUESTED ACTION: 
Consideration and approval regarding Resolution 5906, authorizing the award of a contract for                         
Phillis Wheatley Park Hardscape Construction to Straight Line Management, LLC (AABE, DBE,                       
ESBE, MBE, SBE, WBE, Section 3 Business) for an amount not to exceed $686,888.00. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
The cost for the Phillis Wheatley Park Hardscape Construction is not expected to exceed an                             
amount of $686,888.00 and will be funded by previously approved HUD Choice Neighborhood                         
Initiatives funds.   
 
SUMMARY: 
On October 5, 2018, SAHA issued an “Invitation For Bids” (IFB #1810-912-31-4851) for Phillis                           
Wheatley Park Hardscape Construction, which closed on October 23, 2018. The IFB was                         
published on the SAHA website, Electronic State Business Daily (ESBD), The Hart Beat, posted on                             
NAHRO, Public Purchase and direct solicited to seventy-four contractors. A total of four bids were                             
received in response to the IFB: CGC General Contractors (ESBE, SBE, WBE), Cleanology Service                           
& Supply (ABE, ESBE, MBE, SBE, Section 3 Business), KP Property Services, Inc. (WBE), and                             
Straight Line Management, LLC (AABE, DBE, ESBE, MBE, SBE, WBE, Section 3 Business). All bids                             
were evaluated on the following criteria: purchase price, reputation of the bidder and their goods                             
or services, quality of the goods or services, extent to which the goods or services meet SAHA’s                                 
needs, total long term cost, and any relevant criteria listed within the solicitation document. One                             
bid was deemed non responsive. Based on the above, we are recommending contract award to                             
Straight Line Management, LLC. They are the lowest responsive and responsible bidder. 
 
Straight Line Management, LLC was established in 2008, and is located in San Antonio, Texas.                             
This contractor has been certified as an AABE, DBE, ESBE, MBE, SBE, WBE by the South Central                                 
Texas Regional Certification Agency and a Section 3 Business by SAHA. They provide general                           
construction, construction management, estimating and scheduling, and quality control services                   
to a variety of Federal, municipal, private and residential clients. Straight Line Management, LLC                           
worked as a subcontractor for one of SAHA’s awarded vendors on the Wheatley Family I, LP and                                 
Wheatley Courts CNI Phase II and III Public Improvements project. Their project list includes                           
Brackenridge Park Retaining Wall Restoration, City of San Antonio main library renovations,                       

Page 155 of 246



 
 
SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY                                                                    February 7, 2019 

 

Judson High School stadium rebuild, New Territories Park Improvements, Oscar Perez Park                       
Sidewalks and Walking Trails, and San Antonio Water System painting and general maintenance. 
 
CONTRACT OVERSIGHT: 
Contract oversight will be provided by David Casso, Development Services Manager and Michael                         
Lopez, Project Manager, who will monitor the vendor’s adherence to contract requirements and                         
performance. Oversight of the Artist Contract and Installation, which is part of the Park                           
Hardscape, will be provided by Arrie Porter, Assistant Director of Choice Neighborhood. The                         
Procurement Department will be responsible to ensure the vendor submits the Contractor’s                       
Section 3 Compliance report on a monthly basis and monitor compliance with the vendor’s                           
SWMBE subcontractor good faith utilization plan.    
 
STRATEGIC GOAL: 
Preserve and improve existing affordable housing resources and opportunities. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Resolution 5906 
Presentation 
Bid Tabulation 
Advertisement List 
 

Page 156 of 246



 

 
San Antonio Housing Authority 

Resolution 5906 
 
RESOLUTION 5906, AUTHORIZING THE AWARD OF A CONTRACT FOR PHILLIS WHEATLEY                     
PARK HARDSCAPE CONSTRUCTION TO STRAIGHT LINE MANAGEMENT, LLC (AABE, DBE,                   
ESBE, MBE, SBE, WBE, SECTION 3 BUSINESS) FOR AN AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED                         
$686,888.00 
   
WHEREAS, on October 5, 2018, SAHA issued an “Invitation For Bids” (IFB) #1810-912-31-4851 for                           
Phillis Wheatley Park Hardscape Construction, which closed on October 23, 2018; and  
 
WHEREAS, a total of four bids were received in response to the IFB. One bid was deemed non                                   
responsive; and  
  
WHEREAS, Straight Line Management, LLC is being recommended for contract award. They are                         
the lowest responsive and responsible bidder; and 
  
WHEREAS, the current award recommendation for the Phillis Wheatley Park Hardscape                     
Construction is not expected to exceed an amount of $686,888.00 and will be funded by                             
previously approved HUD Choice Neighborhood Initiatives funds; and 
 
WHEREAS, staff requests the Board of Commissioners authorize the President and CEO, or                         
designee, to execute all documents associated with this contract. 
  
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Commissioners of SAHA hereby: 
  

1) Approves Resolution 5906, authorizing the award of a contract for Phillis Wheatley                       
Park Hardscape Construction to Straight Line Management, LLC (AABE, DBE, ESBE,                     
MBE, SBE, WBE, Section 3 Business) for an amount not to exceed $686,888.00. 

   
2)  Authorizes the President and CEO, or designee, to execute all necessary documents                       

associated with this contract. 
  
Passed and approved the 7th day of February 2019. 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Morris A. Stribling, DPM  
Chair, Board of Commissioners 
 
Attested and approved as to form: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
David Nisivoccia 
President and CEO 

Page 157 of 246



Page 158 of 246



Page 159 of 246



Page 160 of 246



EMI

EMI

EMI

Phillis Wheatley Park

WPSL
EM2

Page 161 of 246



Page 162 of 246



Page 163 of 246



Page 164 of 246



Page 165 of 246



Page 166 of 246



Page 167 of 246



Page 168 of 246



Page 169 of 246



Page 170 of 246



Page 171 of 246



Page 172 of 246



Page 173 of 246



Page 174 of 246



 
 
SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY February 7, 2019 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 

RESOLUTION 5857, AUTHORIZING THE SELECTION OF HOGAN PROPERTIES COMPANY,                 
INC. DBA HOMESPRING REALTY PARTNERS (HOGAN) AS DEVELOPMENT PARTNER FOR                   
5700 CULEBRA ROAD AND 4847 CALLAGHAN ROAD AND AUTHORIZING THE PRESIDENT                     
AND CEO, AND HIS DESIGNATED STAFF TO: FURTHER CLARIFY AND ENHANCE THE                       
DEVELOPER’S PROPOSAL, NEGOTIATE A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT; SUBMIT             
APPLICATIONS FOR FINANCING; CREATE ANY LEGAL ENTITIES; EXECUTE CONTRACTS                 
FOR CONVEYANCE OF LAND; RETAIN LEGAL COUNSEL; AND ENSURE PERFORMANCE OF                     
ALL OTHER MATTERS IN CONNECTION THEREWITH 
   
   
  ________________________  ______________________ ________________________  
  David Nisivoccia Steven Morando Timothy E. Alcott 
  President and CEO Director of Procurement Real Estate and Legal  

and General Services Services Officer 
 

 
REQUESTED ACTION: 
Consideration and approval regarding Resolution 5857, authorizing the selection of Hogan                     
Properties Company, Inc. dba HomeSpring Realty Partners (Hogan) as development partner for                       
5700 Culebra Road and 4847 Callaghan Road and authorizing the President and CEO, and his                             
designated staff to: further clarify and enhance the developer’s proposal, negotiate a                       
development agreement; submit applications for financing; create any legal entities; execute                     
contracts for conveyance of land; retain legal counsel; and ensure performance of all other                           
matters in connection therewith. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
The selected development partner will provide all the predevelopment costs, negotiate and                       
secure financing, provide all the necessary guarantees, and SAHA will contribute the land                         
towards the 5700 Culebra Road project and a capital contribution of $2,000,000 in Moving to                             
Work (MTW) funds for the 4847 Callaghan Road project. SAHA will receive a priority repayment                             
of the MTW funds. The developer will receive its pursuit costs back at closing and will receive a                                   
75% developer fee. The proposal contemplates SAHA receiving 25% of the developer fee and                           
90% of the surplus cash flow over the life of the properties.   
 
The selected development partner’s response to the Request For Proposal reflects a deep                         
understanding of the complexity of the financing strategies that might be utilized for this project.                             
Their proforma and narrative reveal a comprehensive approach that clearly outlines opportunities                       
to leverage resources in order to minimize the net use of SAHA’s and other public funds, and                                 
demonstrates a commitment to obtain and implement financing that offers SAHA a solid return on                             
investment. The developments will be financed through 4% bonds. The Board will have further                           
opportunity to review and approve the recommended financing strategy for these development                       
projects at a future Board meeting date.   
 
 
 

Page 175 of 246



 
 
SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY February 7, 2019 

SUMMARY: 
SAHA requires the services of a development partner to implement a comprehensive                       
development project on 12.566 acres of land, owned by SAHA, that is located at the northwest                               
corner of Culebra Road and Mira Vista Road. In response to the Request for Proposals, Hogan                               
also offered to develop with SAHA, land that Hogan has control of at 4847 Callaghan Road, San                                 
Antonio, Texas 78228 (known as Majestic Ranch) two miles down from the site. In its approach,                               
the development partner was to consider in its strategy and plan a broad range of mixed use                                 
options such as multi-family rentals, live-work units, retail, and non-residential opportunities.   
 
The selected developer for this project is proposing the construction of a 300 unit multifamily                             
property on the land, using private activity bonds and 4% tax credits. The rental units will be                                 
comprised of fifteen residential buildings, to include 100 one-bedroom units, 140 two-bedroom                       
units, and 60 three-bedroom units. The development will also include a clubhouse with                         
management/leasing and maintenance offices, and a pool designed for seniors and the disabled.                         
HomeSpring Residential Services manages three other multifamily properties near the land that                       
will allow for them to cross-market the Mira Vista Ranch Apartments with these other properties.                             
Majestic Ranch would provide an additional 288 units. 
 
A Partnership will be formed to own the land, construct, develop, improve, maintain, lease, and                             
otherwise operate an apartment project offering affordable housing to low and moderate income                         
citizens of the community. 
 
SAHA will be identified as a co-developer and anticipates maintaining significant leadership,                       
ownership and operational roles in the development. The Development Partner, in collaboration                       
with SAHA, will be responsible for securing funding for pre-development, the development                       
program, construction, lease up and management. 
 
SAHA will have 100% beneficial ownership of the Real Estate through a single asset LLC as                               
landowner (Lessor) and will be General Partner of a Texas Limited Partnership with a Tax Credit                               
Investor as limited partner (Lessee). 
 
On September 5, 2018, SAHA issued a “Request For Proposals” #1808-909-57-4827 for                       
Development Partner for 5700 Culebra Road, which closed on October 5, 2018. The solicitation                           
was published on the SAHA website, Electronic State Business Daily (ESBD), The Hart Beat,                           
various other venues and direct solicited to fifty-six developers. A total of four proposals were                             
received in response to the solicitation: Franklin Development Properties, Ltd., Hogan Properties                       
Company, Inc. dba HomeSpring Realty Partners, NRP Holdings, LLC, and Versa Development,                       
LLC (ABE) and Galaxy Builders, Ltd., (ABE) a Joint Venture. All proposals were evaluated on the                               
following criteria: experience and capacity of development team, management                 
plan/technical/response/design concept and development plan, financing structure and plan, and                   
strength of the development partner’s Section 3 and SWMBE utilization plans. Based on the                           
above, Hogan Properties Company, Inc. dba HomeSpring Realty Partners, is the highest rated                         
responsive and responsible proposer and is being recommended for contract award. 
 
COMPANY PROFILE:  
Hogan Properties Company, Inc. d.b.a. HomeSpring Realty Partner, was formed in 1982, and is                           
located in San Antonio, Texas. This company specializes in the development of multi-family,                         

Page 176 of 246



 
 
SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY February 7, 2019 

industrial, and commercial real estate in the San Antonio area and is organized into service                             
groups to include development services, construction management, brokerage, management,                 
maintenance, and bookkeeping services. This developer has received prior awards from SAHA                       
for the development of Elan Gardens, 228 garden-style apartment units on Jackson-Keller. They                         
have also worked with the Housing Authority of Bexar County, Corpus Christi Housing Authority,                           
and San Antonio Housing Trust. This developer focuses on affordable housing in which it takes                             
no ownership interest. Hogan Properties recent multifamily tax credit properties list includes, but                         
are not limited, to Willow Bend, 252 units; Eagle Ridge, 280 units; Town Square, 252 units;                               
Woodlawn Ranch Apartments, 252 units; Masters Ranch Apartments, 252 units; Freedom Hills                       
Ranch Apartments, 252 units; and, Medio Springs Ranch, 348 units. 
 
GENERAL CONTRACTOR (Co-General Contractor) 
Galaxy Builders was established in 1991, and is headquartered in San Antonio, Texas. They are a                               
general contractor specializing in commercial, multifamily, government, assisted/senior living, and                   
adaptive/reuse/restoration. Galaxy Builders has received prior awards from SAHA for                   
Modernization of Lewis Chatham and Marie McGuire Facade Reconstruction. Their housing                     
authority clients include Housing Authority of the City of El Paso, Houston Housing Authority, and                             
Midland County Housing Authority. Their San Antonio projects include, but are not limited, to                           
Dalian Monterrey Village Phase II, Encore Sendero Ranch, Fort Sam Houston, Freedom Hills                         
Ranch, Lookout at Comanche Hill, Lookout Springs “Loretto”, Masters Ranch, Paso Fino,                       
Ranchland Springs “Rustico”, Twin Creeks at Alamo Ranch, and Villas De La Cascada. 
   
CONTRACT OVERSIGHT: 
Contract oversight will be provided by Lorraine Robles, Director of Development Services and                         
Neighborhood Revitalization, who will monitor the vendor’s adherence to contract requirements                     
and performance. The Procurement Department will be responsible to ensure the vendor submits                         
the Contractor’s Section 3 Compliance report on a monthly basis, monitor compliance with the                           
vendor’s SWMBE subcontractor good faith utilization plan, provide annual contract performance                     
evaluation survey to end users, and assist departments in the contract renewal or new solicitation                             
process.   
 
STRATEGIC GOAL: 
Strategically expand the supply of affordable housing. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Resolution 5857  
Map and Picture 
Scoring Matrix 
Ad List 
 

Page 177 of 246



 

San Antonio Housing Authority 
Resolution  5857 

 
RESOLUTION 5857, AUTHORIZING THE SELECTION OF HOGAN PROPERTIES COMPANY,                 
INC. DBA HOMESPRING REALTY PARTNERS (HOGAN) AS DEVELOPMENT PARTNER FOR                   
5700 CULEBRA ROAD AND 4847 CALLAGHAN ROAD AND AUTHORIZING THE PRESIDENT                     
AND CEO, AND HIS DESIGNATED STAFF TO: FURTHER CLARIFY AND ENHANCE THE                       
DEVELOPER’S PROPOSAL, NEGOTIATE A DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT; SUBMIT             
APPLICATIONS FOR FINANCING; CREATE ANY LEGAL ENTITIES; EXECUTE CONTRACTS                 
FOR CONVEYANCE OF LAND; RETAIN LEGAL COUNSEL; AND ENSURE PERFORMANCE OF                     
ALL OTHER MATTERS IN CONNECTION THEREWITH 
   
WHEREAS, on September 5, 2018, SAHA issued a “Request For Proposals” #1808-909-57-4827                       
for Development Partner for 5700 Culebra Road, which closed on October 5, 2018; and 
 
WHEREAS, Hogan Properties Company, Inc. dba HomeSpring Realty Partners, is the highest                       
rated responsive and responsible proposer and is being recommended for contract award; and 
  
WHEREAS, the selected development partner will provide all the predevelopment costs,                     
negotiate and secure financing, provide all the necessary guarantees, and SAHA will contribute                         
the land towards the 5700 Culebra Road project and a capital contribution of $2,000,000 in                             
Moving to Work funds for the 4847 Callaghan Road project. The developer will receive its pursuit                               
costs back at closing, along with 75% of the developer fee. The proposal contemplates SAHA                             
receiving 25% of the developer fee and 90% of the surplus cash flow, over the life of the                                   
properties; and 
 
WHEREAS, development partner agrees to fund an outside third party selected by the agency for                             
construction oversight; and 
  
WHEREAS, staff requests the Board of Commissioners authorize the President and CEO, or                         
designee, to execute all documents associated with this contract. 
  
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Commissioners of SAHA hereby: 
  

1) Approves Resolution 5857, authorizing the selection of Hogan Properties Company,                   
Inc. dba HomeSpring Realty Partners (Hogan) as development partner for 5700                     
Culebra Road and 4847 Callaghan Road and authorizing the President and CEO, and                         
his designated staff to: further clarify and enhance the developer’s proposal, negotiate                       
a development agreement; submit applications for financing; create any legal entities;                     
execute contracts for conveyance of land; retain legal counsel; and ensure                     
performance of all other matters in connection therewith. 

 
 2)  Authorizes the President and CEO, or designee, to execute all necessary documents                       

associated with this contract. 
 
Passed and approved the 7th day of February 2019. 
 
_______________________________ Attested and approved as to form: 
Morris A. Stribling, DPM  
Chair, Board of Commissioners  _______________________________ 

David Nisivoccia 
President and CEO 

Page 178 of 246



OPPORTUNITY LIVES HERE
@HousingSAT

MAP - 5700 CULEBRA RD

Page 179 of 246



OPPORTUNITY LIVES HERE
@HousingSAT

MAP - 4847 CALLAGHAN RD

W
oodside Dr.

Page 180 of 246



Page 181 of 246



Page 182 of 246



Page 183 of 246



Page 184 of 246



Page 185 of 246



 
 
SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY February 7, 2019 

   BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 
RESOLUTION 5909, AUTHORIZING THE SELECTION OF A DEVELOPMENT PARTNER FOR                   
210 S. GRIMES AND 7.83 ACRES ON THE NORTH EAST QUADRANT OF HEDGES AND                           
GRIMES ST. AND AUTHORIZING THE PRESIDENT AND CEO, AND HIS DESIGNATED STAFF                       
TO: FURTHER CLARIFY AND ENHANCE THE DEVELOPER’S PROPOSAL, NEGOTIATE A                   
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT; SUBMIT APPLICATIONS FOR FINANCING; CREATE ANY               
LEGAL ENTITIES; EXECUTE CONTRACTS FOR CONVEYANCE OF LAND; RETAIN LEGAL                   
COUNSEL; AND ENSURE PERFORMANCE OF ALL OTHER MATTERS IN CONNECTION                   
THEREWITH 
 
 
________________________  ______________________ ________________________  
David Nisivoccia Steven Morando Timothy E. Alcott 
President and CEO Director of Procurement Real Estate and Legal  

and General Services Services Officer 
 

 
REQUESTED ACTION: 
Consideration and approval regarding Resolution 5909, authorizing the selection of a                     
development partner for 210 S. Grimes and 7.83 acres on the north east quadrant of Hedges and                                 
Grimes St. and authorizing the President and CEO, and his designated staff to: further clarify and                               
enhance the developer’s proposal, negotiate a development agreement; submit applications for                     
financing; create any legal entities; execute contracts for conveyance of land; retain legal                         
counsel; and ensure performance of all other matters in connection therewith. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
SAHA is in the process of pursuing 2019 9% Low Income Housing Tax Credits (LIHTC) from the                                 
Texas Department of Housing and Community Affairs (TDHCA). The agency will also seek                         
Historic Tax Credits and does not anticipate having to contribute capital to these projects.                           
However, once the development team has determined and obtained financing for each project,                         
staff will bring each proposal before the Board of Commissioners for final approval. 
 
SUMMARY: 
SAHA submitted pre-applications for 9% tax credits for both 210 S. Grimes and the 7.83 acres on                                 
Hedges and Grimes St. The 210 S. Grimes project ranked in first place, while the 7.83 acres                                 
ranked much lower, leading the development team to pull the application. The 210 S. Grimes                             
pre-application proposes 93 affordable units ranging from 30-60% of AMI.  
 
SAHA requires the services of a development partner to implement a comprehensive                       
development plan at 210 S. Grimes (The Convent) and for the 7.83 acres on the north east                                 
quadrant of Hedges and Grimes Street. These properties are located on the east side of San                               
Antonio in close proximity to the AT&T Center. SAHA will consider a broad range of mixed use                                 
options such as multi-family rentals, live-work units, retail, and non-residential opportunities.                     
SAHA will also consider a developer who is interested in developing the project for an                             
agreed-upon fee or desires to become a partner with SAHA in the ownership, development and                             
operation of the property.   

Page 186 of 246



 
 
SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY February 7, 2019 

 
On January 14, 2019, SAHA issued a Request For Proposals (RFP) #1901-909-57-4877 for                         
Development Partner for 210 S. Grimes and 7.83 acres on the north east quadrant of Hedges and                                 
Grimes St., which closes on January 31, 2019. The solicitation was published on the SAHA                             
website, Electronic State Business Daily (ESBD), The Hart Beat, various other venues and direct                           
solicited to 48 developers. The submitted proposals will be reviewed and evaluated by an                           
evaluation committee. After which time, the selection of a development partner will be identified                           
and presented to the Board of Commissioners for approval   
   
Contract oversight will be provided by Lorraine Robles, Director of Development Services and                         
Neighborhood Revitalization, who will monitor the vendor’s adherence to contract requirements                     
and performance. The Procurement Department will be responsible to ensure the vendor submits                         
the Contractor’s Section 3 Compliance report on a monthly basis, monitor compliance with the                           
vendor’s SWMBE subcontractor good faith utilization plan, and assist the department in the                         
contract renewal or new solicitation process.   
 
STRATEGIC GOAL: 
Preserve and improve existing affordable housing resources and opportunities. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Resolution 5909 
Maps 
 
 
 
 

Page 187 of 246



 

 
San Antonio Housing Authority 

Resolution 5909 
 
RESOLUTION 5909, AUTHORIZING THE SELECTION OF A DEVELOPMENT PARTNER FOR                   
210 S. GRIMES AND 7.83 ACRES ON THE NORTH EAST QUADRANT OF HEDGES AND                           
GRIMES ST. AND AUTHORIZING THE PRESIDENT AND CEO, AND HIS DESIGNATED STAFF                       
TO: FURTHER CLARIFY AND ENHANCE THE DEVELOPER’S PROPOSAL, NEGOTIATE A                   
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT; SUBMIT APPLICATIONS FOR FINANCING; CREATE ANY               
LEGAL ENTITIES; EXECUTE CONTRACTS FOR CONVEYANCE OF LAND; RETAIN LEGAL                   
COUNSEL; AND ENSURE PERFORMANCE OF ALL OTHER MATTERS IN CONNECTION                   
THEREWITH   
 
WHEREAS, on January 14, 2019, SAHA issued a “Request For Proposals (RFP)                       
#1901-909-57-4877 for Development Partner for 210 S. Grimes and 7.83 acres on the north east                             
quadrant of Hedges and Grimes St., which is scheduled to close on January 31, 2019; and 
 
WHEREAS, the submitted proposals will be reviewed and evaluated by an evaluation committee.                         
After which time, the selection of a development partner will be identified and presented to the                               
Board of Commissioners for approval; and 
  
WHEREAS, SAHA is in the process of pursuing 2019 9% Low Income Housing Tax Credits (LIHTC)                               
from the Texas Department of Housing and Community Affairs (TDHCA). The agency will also                           
seek Historic Tax Credits and does not anticipate having to contribute capital to these projects.                             
However, once the development team has determined and obtained financing for each project,                         
staff will bring each proposal before the Board of Commissioners for final approval; and 
  
WHEREAS, staff requests the Board of Commissioners authorize the President and CEO, or                         
designee, to execute all documents associated with this contract. 
  
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Commissioners of SAHA hereby: 
  

1) Approves Resolution 5909, authorizing the selection of a development partner for 210                       
S. Grimes and 7.83 acres on the north east quadrant of Hedges and Grimes St. and                               
authorizing the President and CEO, and his designated staff to: further clarify and                         
enhance the developer’s proposal, negotiate a development agreement; submit                 
applications for financing; create any legal entities; execute contracts for conveyance                     
of land; retain legal counsel; and ensure performance of all other matters in                         
connection therewith. 

 
 2)  Authorizes the President and CEO, or designee, to execute all necessary documents                       

associated with this contract. 
 
Passed and approved the 7th day of February 2019. 
 
_______________________________ 
Morris A. Stribling, DPM  
Chair, Board of Commissioners Attested and approved as to form: 

 
_______________________________ 
David Nisivoccia 
President and CEO 

Page 188 of 246



OPPORTUNITY LIVES HERE
@HousingSAT

AERIAL MAP OF 210 S. GRIMES AND 7.83 ACRES

W
oodside Dr.

7.83 Acres

Page 189 of 246



OPPORTUNITY LIVES HERE
@HousingSAT

SITE PLAN

Page 190 of 246



10 
006473.000000\4836-4743-7444.v1 

EXHIBIT “A-2” 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

Approximately 7.83 acres on the North East Quardrant of Hedges and Grimes, San Antonio, TX 

ACREAGE AT SPRINGVIEW

Page 191 of 246



 
 
SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY February 7, 2019 

   BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 

RESOLUTION 5908, AUTHORIZING THE AWARD OF AN AGENCY-WIDE CONTRACT FOR                   
MAINTENANCE, REPAIR, MODERNIZATION, REPLACEMENT AND NEW CONSTRUCTION OF               
ELEVATORS, ESCALATORS AND MOVING WALKWAYS TO KONE, INC., THROUGH US                   
COMMUNITIES PURCHASING COOPERATIVE, AN OMNIA PARTNER, FOR AN ANNUAL                 
CUMULATIVE AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $500,000.00; FOR A PERIOD OF ONE YEAR WITH                         
THE OPTION TO RENEW UP TO FOUR ADDITIONAL ONE-YEAR TERMS   
 
 
________________________  ______________________ ________________________  
David Nisivoccia Steven Morando Hector Martinez 
President and CEO Director of Procurement  Director of Construction  

and General Services Services and Sustainability 
 

 
REQUESTED ACTION: 
Consideration and approval regarding Resolution 5908, authorizing the award of an agency-wide                       
contract for maintenance, repair, modernization, replacement and new construction of elevators,                     
escalators and moving walkways to KONE, Inc., through US Communities Purchasing                     
Cooperative, an Omnia Partner, for an annual cumulative amount not to exceed $500,000.00; for                           
a period of one year with the option to renew up to four additional one year terms. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
The cost for maintenance, repair, replacement, and annual Qualified Elevator Inspector                     
Inspections agency-wide is not expected to exceed an amount of $500,000.00 and will be                           
funded through approved operating budgets, capital funds, and available reserves.  
 
SUMMARY: 
SAHA requires the services of a contractor to primarily provide monthly preventative                       
maintenance, routine and emergency repair services, replacement and modernization of existing                     
elevators, and provide support during annual Qualified Elevator Inspector (QEI) Inspections for                       
the forty-two passenger and two freight elevators currently located at various developments                       
within SAHA’s Public Housing and Beacon Communities portfolios, as well as Central Office.   
 
HUD encourages Housing Authorities to utilize cooperative and interagency agreements to                     
simplify and expedite the procurement processes. Purchasing Cooperatives assign a lead agency                       
for its solicitations to ensure that competitive bid requirements for most state and local                           
government agencies are followed; therefore, SAHA is not required to issue its own competitive                           
solicitation in cases where the use of available contracts are appropriate and in accordance with                             
SAHA procurement policies.   
  
Once the lead public agency has awarded a contract with the supplier, participating Public                           
Agencies in need of similar products and services are able to make purchases through the U.S.                               
Communities contract. This ensures that the same terms and conditions of the lead agency’s                           
awarded contract apply to the participants. SAHA is currently a member of the U.S. Communities                             
Government Purchasing Alliance, a nationwide purchasing cooperative. 
  

Page 192 of 246



 
 
SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY February 7, 2019 

On May 23, 2018, the City of Kansas City, Missouri (Lead Public Agency), on behalf of the U.S.                                   
Communities Purchasing Alliance solicited proposals for Elevator, Escalator and Walkway                   
Maintenance and Modernization Services, Inspection Services, and Related Solutions that were                     
due on June 8, 2018. Two responses were received for the national contract.   
 
On December 1, 2018, Kansas City, Missouri, entered into a contract, EV2516 with KONE, Inc. for                               
Elevator and Escalator Maintenance, Repair, Modernization & New Construction for a period of                         
six years, with renewal options for five additional, one year terms. SAHA is requesting the Board’s                               
approval to participate in this contract with an initial one-year term and four one-year renewal                             
options, which differs from the lead agency’s structure. This will allow SAHA an opportunity to                             
review and evaluate the contract each year, which is our normal practice. 
 
KONE, Inc. was founded in 1956, and is headquartered in Lisle, Illinois. KONE, Inc. was formerly                               
known as Montgomery KONE, Inc. and changed its name to KONE, Inc. in January of 2000.                               
KONE, Inc. operates as a subsidiary of KONE Oyj. They have offices and service centers                             
worldwide with more than seventy offices across the United States. Their Texas offices are                           
located in Austin, Dallas, Houston, and San Antonio, Texas. The company designs, manufactures,                         
and supplies elevators, escalators, autowalks, and automatic building doors. They offer                     
passenger, patient/service, freight, marine, and trauma elevators; and loading docks, automated                     
guided vehicles, and destination control systems. KONE Inc. also provides maintenance and                       
modernization solutions, and repairs and upgrades. The company offers products for residential,                       
office, and retail buildings; and hospitals, transport hubs, and ships worldwide.  
 
Contract oversight will be provided by Mark DeLuna, Maintenance Superintendent, who will                       
monitor the vendor’s adherence to contract requirements and performance.  
 
STRATEGIC GOAL: 
Preserve and improve existing affordable housing resources and opportunities. 
 
ATTACHMENT: 
Resolution 5908 
 
 
 

Page 193 of 246



 

San Antonio Housing Authority 
Resolution  5908 

 
RESOLUTION 5908, AUTHORIZING THE AWARD OF AN AGENCY-WIDE CONTRACT FOR                   
MAINTENANCE, REPAIR, MODERNIZATION, REPLACEMENT AND NEW CONSTRUCTION OF               
ELEVATORS, ESCALATORS AND MOVING WALKWAYS TO KONE, INC., THROUGH US                   
COMMUNITIES PURCHASING COOPERATIVE, AN OMNIA PARTNER, FOR AN ANNUAL                 
CUMULATIVE AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $500,000.00; FOR A PERIOD OF ONE YEAR WITH                         
THE OPTION TO RENEW UP TO FOUR ADDITIONAL ONE-YEAR TERMS   
   
WHEREAS, the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development encourages Housing                     
Authorities to utilize cooperative and interagency agreements to simplify and expedite the                       
procurement processes. SAHA is currently a member of the U.S. Communities Government                       
Purchasing Alliance, a nationwide purchasing cooperative, which follows an acceptable                   
competitive bid or proposal solicitation process. SAHA, as a cooperative member, may utilize any                           
contract awarded by the U.S. Communities Government Purchasing Alliance; and 
  
WHEREAS, on May 23, 2018, the City of Kansas City, Missouri (Lead Public Agency), on behalf of                                 
the U.S. Communities Purchasing Alliance, solicited proposals for Elevator, Escalator and                     
Walkway Maintenance and Modernization Services, Inspection Services, and Related Solutions                   
that were due on June 8, 2018; and  
 
WHEREAS, on December 1, 2018, Kansas City, Missouri (Lead Public Agency), entered into a                           
contract, EV2516 with KONE, Inc. for Elevator and Escalator Maintenance, Repair, Modernization                       
& New Construction for a period of six years, with renewal options for five additional, one year                                 
terms; and 
  
WHEREAS, the cost for maintenance, repair, replacement, and annual Qualified Elevator                     
Inspector Inspections agency-wide is not expected to exceed an amount of $500,000.00 and                         
will be funded through approved operating budgets, capital funds, and available reserves; and 
  
WHEREAS, staff requests the Board of Commissioners authorize the President and CEO, or                         
designee, to execute all documents associated with this contract. 
  
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Commissioners of SAHA hereby: 
  

1) Approves Resolution 5908, authorizing the award of an agency-wide contract for                     
maintenance, repair, modernization, replacement and new construction of elevators,                 
escalators and moving walkways to KONE, Inc., through U.S. Communities Purchasing                     
Cooperative, an Omnia Partner, for an annual cumulative amount not to exceed                       
$500,000.00; for a period of one year with the option to renew up to four additional                               
one year terms. 

 
2)  Authorizes the President and CEO, or designee, to execute all necessary documents                       

associated with this contract. 
  
 
 

Page 194 of 246



 

 
Passed and approved the 7th day of February 2019. 
 
 
_______________________________ 
Morris A. Stribling, DPM  
Chair, Board of Commissioners 

 
Attested and approved as to form: 
 
 
_______________________________ 
David Nisivoccia 
President and CEO 

Page 195 of 246



 
 
SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY February 7, 2019  

   BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 

RESOLUTION 5907, AUTHORIZING THE AWARD OF AN AGENCY-WIDE CONTRACT FOR                   
IRRIGATION SYSTEMS INSPECTION, TESTING, REPAIR AND INSTALLATION TO OLYMPIA                 
LANDSCAPE DEVELOPMENT, INC. (HABE) FOR AN ANNUAL CUMULATIVE AMOUNT NOT                   
TO EXCEED $60,000.00 PER YEAR FOR YEAR ONE AND $70,000.00 PER YEAR FOR YEAR                           
TWO, YEAR THREE, YEAR FOUR, AND YEAR FIVE 
 
 
_____________________ ______________________ _______________________  
David Nisivoccia Steven Morando Brandee Perez 
President and CEO Director of Procurement Director of Federal 
  and General Services                 Housing Programs
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
REQUESTED ACTION: 
Consideration and approval regarding Resolution 5907, authorizing the award of an agency-wide                       
contract for irrigation systems inspection, testing, repair and installation to Olympia Landscape                       
Development, Inc. (HABE) for an annual cumulative amount not to exceed $60,000.00 per year                           
for year one and $70,000.00 per year for year two, year three, year four, and year five. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
The cost for irrigation systems inspection, testing, repair and installation services is not expected                           
to exceed an annual cumulative amount of $60,000.00 per year for year one, and $70,000.00                             
per year for year two, year three, year four, and year five. These services will be funded through                                   
the approved operating budgets and/or operating reserves.  
 
SUMMARY: 
On November 27, 2018, SAHA issued an “Invitation For Bids” (IFB) #1810-934-37-4853 for                         
Irrigation Systems Inspection, Testing, Repair and Installation Services, which closed on                     
December 4, 2018. The IFB was published on the SAHA website, Electronic State Business Daily                             
(ESBD), The Hart Beat, posted on NAHRO, Public Purchase and direct solicited to fifty-eight                           
contractors. A total of four bids were received in response to the IFB: All Pro General                               
Construction (DBE, ESBE, HABE, MBE, SBE, Section 3 Business), Olympia Landscape                     
Development, Inc. (HABE), R&C Landscape, LLC (ESBE, HABE, MBE, SBE, Section 3 Business),                         
and San Antonio Ace Sprinklers and Landscaping. All bids were evaluated on the following                           
criteria: purchase price, reputation of the bidder and their goods or services, quality of the goods                               
or services, extent to which the goods or services meet SAHA’s needs, total long term cost, and                                 
any relevant criteria contained in the solicitation document. Based on the above, SAHA is                           
recommending contract award to Olympia Landscape Development, Inc. They are the lowest                       
responsive and responsible bidder. 
 
Olympia Landscape Development, Inc. was established in 2004, and is headquartered in Laredo,                         
Texas, with a field office location in San Antonio, Texas. This contractor self-certifies as an HABE.                               
They are a full service landscape company that provides residential and commercial landscape,                         
Xeriscape, irrigation, hydroseeding, and commercial grounds management. Their irrigation                 
services include the following: design, backflow testing, irrigation management, irrigation repair                     

Page 196 of 246



 
 
SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY February 7, 2019  

and modifications, and they are a rain bird select contractor. Olympia Landscape Development,                         
Inc. has received no prior awards from SAHA. Their client list includes San Antonio Water                             
Systems (SAWS), City of Laredo, and United Independent School District. Their Section 3 Good                           
Faith Effort Plan includes providing training programs to individuals in the area of irrigation                           
procedures. 
  
CONTRACT OVERSIGHT: 
Contract oversight will be provided by Brandee Perez, Director of Federal Housing Programs,                         
who will monitor the vendor’s adherence to contract requirements and performance. The                       
Procurement Department will be responsible to ensure the vendor submits the Contractor’s                       
Section 3 Compliance report on a monthly basis and monitor compliance with the vendor’s                           
SWMBE subcontractor good faith utilization plan.    
 
STRATEGIC GOAL: 
Preserve and improve existing affordable housing resources and opportunities. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Resolution 5907 
Bid Tabulation 
Advertisement List 
 

Page 197 of 246



 

 
San Antonio Housing Authority 

Resolution 5907 
 

RESOLUTION 5907, AUTHORIZING THE AWARD OF AN AGENCY-WIDE CONTRACT FOR                   
IRRIGATION SYSTEMS INSPECTION, TESTING, REPAIR AND INSTALLATION TO OLYMPIA                 
LANDSCAPE DEVELOPMENT, INC. (HABE) FOR AN ANNUAL CUMULATIVE AMOUNT NOT                   
TO EXCEED $60,000.00 PER YEAR FOR YEAR ONE AND $70,000.00 PER YEAR FOR YEAR                           
TWO, YEAR THREE, YEAR FOUR, AND YEAR FIVE 
   
WHEREAS, on November 27, 2018, SAHA issued an “Invitation For Bids” (IFB) #1810-934-37-4853                         
for Irrigation Systems Inspection, Testing, Repair and Installation Services, which closed on                       
December 4, 2018; and  
 
WHEREAS, a total of four bids were received in response to the IFB; and  
  
WHEREAS, Olympia Landscape Development, Inc. is being recommended for contract award.                     
They are the lowest responsive and responsible bidder; and 
  
WHEREAS, the current award recommendation for irrigation systems inspection, testing, repair                     
and installation services is not expected to exceed an annual cumulative amount of $60,000.00                           
per year for year one, and $70,000.00 per year for year two, year three, year four, and year five.                                     
These services will be funded through the approved operating budgets and/or operating                       
reserves; and   
 
WHEREAS, staff requests the Board of Commissioners authorize the President and CEO, or                         
designee, to execute all documents associated with this contract. 
  
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Commissioners of SAHA hereby: 
  

1) Approves Resolution 5907, authorizing the award of an agency-wide contract for                     
irrigation systems inspection, testing, repair and installation to Olympia Landscape                   
Development, Inc. (HABE) for an annual cumulative amount not to exceed $60,000.00                       
per year for year one and $70,000.00 per year for year two, year three, year four, and                                 
year five.   

 
2)  Authorizes the President and CEO, or designee, to execute all necessary documents                       

associated with this contract. 
  
Passed and approved the 7th day of February 2019. 
 
_______________________________ 
Morris A. Stribling, DPM  
Chair, Board of Commissioners 
 
Attested and approved as to form: 
 
_______________________________ 
David Nisivoccia 
President and CEO 

Page 198 of 246



Page 199 of 246



Page 200 of 246



Page 201 of 246



Page 202 of 246



Page 203 of 246



SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY        February 7, 2019 
 

BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS  
 

RESOLUTION 5903, APPROVING THE OVER-INCOME LIMIT POLICY FOR THE PUBLIC                   
HOUSING (PH) PROGRAM 
 
 
_______________________________      ________________________________ 
David Nisivoccia       Brandee Perez 
President and CEO      Director of Federal Housing Programs 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 
REQUESTED ACTION: 
Consideration and approval regarding Resolution 5903, approving the Over-Income Limit Policy                     
for the Public Housing (PH) program.  

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  
There is no estimated financial impact.  

SUMMARY:  
On July 26, 2018, the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) published the                             
Housing Opportunity Through Modernization Act (HOTMA) of 2016: Final Implementation of                     
Public Housing Income Limit, which places an income limit of 120% of the area median income                               
(AMI) on tenancy in the Public Housing (PH) program.  

The law requires that after a family’s income has exceeded 120% of the AMI for two consecutive                                 
years, SAHA either (1) terminate the family’s tenancy within six months of the second income                             
determination, or (2) raise the rent by charging the family a monthly rent equal to the greater of                                   
(a) the applicable fair market rent (FMR), or (b) the amount of monthly subsidy for the unit.  

HUD requires SAHA to establish policies in the Admissions and Continued Occupancy Plan                         
(ACOP) no later than six months of the effective date of the notice, September 24, 2018. Staff                                 
requests approval of the proposed policy to terminate tenancy if a family has exceeded 120% of                               
the AMI for two consecutive years. Upon approval of this resolution, the following language will                             
be added to the FY2018-19 ACOP to address implementation of the Over-Income Limit Rule:  

13.3.C OTHER AUTHORIZED REASONS FOR TERMINATION [24 CFR 966.4(l)(2) and                 
(5)(ii)(B)] 

(5) Over-Income Limit Rule [FR 7/26/18, p. 35490] 

(a) After a family’s income has exceeded 120% of the area median income                       
(AMI) for two (2) consecutive years (grace period), SAHA must take one                       
of the following actions:  

(i)  terminate the family’s tenancy within six (6) months of the second                     
income determination, or  

(ii) raise the rent by charging the family a monthly rent equal to the                         
greater of  

(a) the applicable fair market rent (FMR), or  

 
Page 204 of 246



SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY        February 7, 2019 
 

(b) the amount of monthly subsidy for the unit. 

(b) SAHA must notify a family after one (1) year of the family’s income                         
exceeding the over-income limit.  

(c) If SAHA becomes aware, through an annual/interim reexamination, that                 
a family has reached the over-income limit, that will be the starting                       
point for the two-year grace period.  

(d) If the family submits a decrease in income, which demonstrates that                     
the family’s income has dropped below the over-income limit, the                   
family is no longer considered over-income.  

(i) If SAHA becomes aware that the family’s income has increased,                   
through an interim/annual reexamination, to an amount that               
exceeds the over-income limit, the family would begin a new                   
two-year grace period.  

(e) SAHA may consider special circumstances for exemptions from               
over-income requirements in accordance with the 1937 Act and Fair                   
Housing.  

(f) SAHA must implement all relevant policy changes by March 24, 2019.  

(g) After a family’s income has exceeded 120% of the AMI for two (2)                         
consecutive years, SAHA will terminate the family’s tenancy within six                   
(6) months following the grace period end date.  

 
The recommended policy will be effective for all interim and annual recertifications with an                           
effective date of April 1, 2019, or later. As the rule requires a two-year grace period following                                 
determination of over-income limit status, implementation will consist of a 24-month phase-in for                         
participants who meet the limit.  
 
STRATEGIC GOAL: 
Empower and equip families to improve their quality of life and achieve economic stability.  
 
ATTACHMENT: 
Resolution 5903 

 
Page 205 of 246



 

San Antonio Housing Authority 
Resolution 5903 

 
RESOLUTION 5903, APPROVING THE OVER-INCOME LIMIT POLICY FOR THE PUBLIC                   
HOUSING (PH) PROGRAM 
 
WHEREAS, the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) published the                       
Housing Opportunity Through Modernization Act (HOTMA) of 2016: Final Implementation of                     
Public Housing Income Limit, which provides that housing authorities implement an income                       
limit for families residing in Public Housing (PH); and  
 
WHEREAS, the law requires that after a family’s income has exceeded 120% of the area                             
median income (AMI) for two consecutive years, SAHA either terminate the family’s tenancy                         
or raise the rent; and  
 
WHEREAS, SAHA staff requests authorization to establish the following policy, which                     
enables SAHA to terminate the tenancy of families who have exceeded the over-income limit                           
for two consecutive years:  

13.3.C OTHER AUTHORIZED REASONS FOR TERMINATION [24 CFR 966.4(l)(2) and                 
(5)(ii)(B)] 

*** 

(5) Over-Income Limit Rule [FR 7/26/18, p. 35490] 

(a) After a family’s income has exceeded 120% of the area median                     
income (AMI) for two (2) consecutive years (grace period), SAHA                   
must take one of the following actions:  

(i)  terminate the family’s tenancy within six (6) months of the                   
second income determination, or  

(ii) raise the rent by charging the family a monthly rent equal to                       
the greater of  

(a) the applicable fair market rent (FMR), or  
(b) the amount of monthly subsidy for the unit. 

(b) SAHA must notify a family after one (1) year of the family’s income                         
exceeding the over-income limit.  

(c) If SAHA becomes aware, through an annual/interim reexamination,               
that a family has reached the over-income limit, that will be the                       
starting point for the two-year grace period.  

(d) if the family submits a decrease in income which demonstrates                   
that the family’s income has dropped below the over-income limit,                   
the family is no longer considered over-income.  

(i) If SAHA becomes aware that the family’s income has                 
increased, through an interim/annual reexamination, to an             

 
Page 206 of 246



 

amount that exceeds the over-income limit, the family would                 
begin a new two-year grace period.  

(e) SAHA may consider special circumstances for exemptions from               
over-income requirements in accordance with the 1937 Act and                 
Fair Housing.  

(f) SAHA must implement all relevant policy changes by March 24,                   
2019.  

(g) After a family’s income has exceeded 120% of the AMI for two (2)                         
consecutive years, SAHA will terminate the family’s tenancy within six                   
(6) months following the grace period end date.  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Commissioners of SAHA hereby:  
 

1) Approves Resolution 5903, approving the Over-Income Limit Policy for the Public                     
Housing (PH) program.  
 

2) Approves that the recommended policy will be effective for all interim and annual                         
recertifications with an effective date of April 1, 2019, or later. 

 
Passed and approved the 7th day of February 2019. 
 
 

____________________________________
Morris A. Stribling, DPM 
Chair, Board of Commissioners  
 
Attested and approved as to form: 
 
 
____________________________________  
David Nisivoccia 
President and CEO 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
Page 207 of 246



 
 
SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY February 7, 2019 

MEMORANDUM 
 
To: Board of Commissioners  
 
From: David Nisivoccia, President and CEO 
 
Presented by: Steven Morando, Director of Procurement and General Services 
 
RE: Procurement Activity Report 

 
 
SUMMARY: 
 
Current Solicitations: There is currently one Invitation For Bids (IFB), and one Quick Quote, being                             
advertised. The Invitation for Bids is for Fair Avenue Apartments Fire Protection Improvements;                         
and the Quick Quote is for Human Resources Management Consulting Services.  
 
Closed/Pending Solicitations: There are six solicitations that have closed and are currently being                         
evaluated. The six solicitations include the following: Utility Billing Services for Beacon                       
Communities, Laundry Concessions, Demolition of Convent Stable, Compensation Study and Pay                     
Range Review, Remodel of Vacant Units for ConnectHome Computer Lab and Offices, and                         
Operational and Organizational Assessment Consulting Services. 
   
Solicitations in Development: Procurement is currently working on a number of solicitations for                         
advertisement. The solicitations include the following: Swimming Pool Maintenance and Repairs                     
for various Beacon Communities, Work Order Request Center and Answering Services for                       
Beacon Communities, Pecan Hill Tree Removal and Sanitary Sewer Retrofit, Repair and                       
Replacement of Shingle Roofs at Villa de Valencia, Sunshine Plaza HVAC Improvements, Key                         
Management System Agency Wide, Mowing and Ground Maintenance Services for Beacon                     
Communities, Public Relations Consulting Services, Media Monitoring Services, Printing and                   
Publication Services, Castle Point Capital Improvements, Fire and Sprinkler Systems at Villa                       
Tranchese, Roof Replacement at Alazan Community Office Building, Rehabilitation of Seven                     
Offline Burn Units at Cassiano Homes, Natural Gas Systems Operator Qualified Training,                       
Demolition Services for Infill Properties, Choice Neighborhood Project Manager, Interlocal with                     
Westside Development Corporation (WDC), Inspection Software for Public Housing, Convent                   
Balcony Repairs, and Records Storage Services - State of Texas Contract.  
 
CHANGE ORDERS 
There are no change orders to report for the fourth calendar quarter of 2018. 
 
VEHICLE PURCHASES 
No vehicles were purchased during the fourth calendar quarter of 2018. 
 
PROPOSED ACTION: 
None at this time. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
Amounts paid according to award provisions. 
 

Page 208 of 246



 
 
SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY February 7, 2019 

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE: 
Transform core operations to be a high performing and financially strong organization. 
 
ATTACHMENT: 
Procurement Activity Report 
 

Page 209 of 246



 Procurement Activity Report January 25, 2019

Solicitations Currently being Advertised
SAHA Department Type Solicitation Name Bidders Conference Closes
Construction Services IFB Fair Avenue Apartments Fire Protection Improvements 12/14/2018 1/30/2019
Human Resources QQ Human Resources Management Consulting Services N/A 2/8/2019
Solicitations Under Evaluation
SAHA Department Type Solicitation Name Date Closed Status
DSNR RFP Development Partner for 5700 Culebra Road 10/5/2018
DSNR IFB Phillis Wheatley Park Hardscape Construction 10/23/2018 Board Meeting 

2/7/2019DSNR RFQ Wheatley Infill New Home Construction 12/4/2018

Agency-Wide IFB
Irrigation Systems Inspection, Testing, Repair and 
Installation 12/4/2018

Agency-Wide Co-op

Maintenance, Repair, Modernization, Replacement and 
New Construction of Elevators, Escalators and Moving 
Walkways N/A

DSNR RFP
Development Partner for 210 S. Grimes and 7.83 acres 
on North East Quadrant (NEQ) of Hedges and Grimes 1/31/2019

Beacon Communities QQ Utility Billing Services for Beacon Communities 11/26/2018
Agency-Wide IFB Laundry Concessions 12/18/2018 Negotiation
Public Housing QQ Demolition of Convent Stable 1/4/2019 Due Diligence 
Human Resources RFP Compensation Study and Pay Range Review 1/11/2019 Procurement

Public Housing IFB
Remodel of Vacant Units for ConnectHome Computer 
Lab and Offices 1/17/2019

Evaluation

Executive RFP
Operational and Organizational Assessment Consulting 
Services 1/18/2019

Future Solicitations
Beacon Communities Swimming Pool Maintenance and Repairs for Various 

Beacon Communities February 2019
Work Order Request Center and Answering Services for 
Beacon Communities February 2019
Pecan Hill Tree Removal and Sanitary Sewer Retrofit February 2019
Repair and Replacement of Shingle Roofs at Villa de 
Valencia February 2019
Sunshine Plaza HVAC Improvements February 2019
Key Management System Agency Wide February 2019
Mowing and Ground Maintenance Services for Beacon 
Communities February 2019

Communications and Public Affairs Public Relations Consulting Services March 2019
Media Monitoring Services March 2019
Printing and Publication Services March 2019

Construction Services Castle Point Capital Improvements February 2019
Fire and Sprinkler Systems at Villa Tranchese February 2019
Roof Replacement at Alazan Community Office Building February 2019
Rehabilitation of Seven Offline Burn Units at Cassiano 
Homes February 2019
Natural Gas Systems Operator Qualified Training February 2019

DSNR Choice Neighborhood Project Manager January 2019
Demolition Services for Infill Properties February 2019
Interlocal with Westside Development Corporation 
(WDC) February 2019

Public Housing Inspection Software for Public Housing February 2019
Convent Balcony Repairs February 2019

Procurement and General Services Records Storage Services - State of Texas Contract February 2019

Page 210 of 246



Informal Awards Up to $50,000 

SAHA Department Solicitation Name Vendor Amount Date
CDI Golden Gala HB Center Hall 1 Freeman Electrical, Inc. $11,082.90 11/21/2018

DSNR

Operational and Organizational Assessment 
of the SAHA Development Services and 
Neighborhood Revitalization (DSNR) 
Department CVR Associates $50,000.00 11/21/2018

Public Housing Matt Garcia Roof Repairs R&J Muniz Remodeling $3,000.00 11/27/2018

Innovative Technology
Malware Bytes Endpoint Security and 
Service Support SHI Government Solutions $8,459.08 11/28/2018

Innovative Technology 14 Vizio 60" 4K HD Smart TV's Commonwealth Computer Co $8,358.00 12/5/2018
Assisted Housing Programs Nemo-Q Equipment Move Nemo-Q $3,000.00 12/12/2018
Assisted Housing Programs Nemo-Q Extended Warranty Nemo-Q $2,572.00 12/12/2018
Beacon Communities Pool and Fence Repairs at Crown Meadows MDM Contracting $3,987.00 12/12/2018

Innovative Technology
DocuSign Pro Edition, Premier Support, and 
Connector Carahsoft Technology Corporation $47,424.72 12/13/2018

Board of Commissioners
President & CEO Annual Evaluation and 
Compensation Review Services Segal Waters Consulting $25,000.00 12/17/2018

Innovative Technology JDE Administrator - Consulting
Surety Payroll Systems (RK Payroll 
Solutions) $50,000.00 12/18/2018

Public Housing
Ubiquiti Wifi Equipment at Westway 
Apartments SHI Government Solutions $13,245.00 12/18/2018

Public Housing
Umbrella Security Subscription (Wi-Fi) at 
Westway Apartments SHI Government Solutions $3,400.00 12/19/2018

Construction Services
Fair Avenue Burned Unit #704 
Rehabilitation Calidad, LLC $47,957.00 12/20/2018

Human Resources Computer Upgrade Dell Marketing $13,224.33 12/21/2018

CDI
Computer Upgrade and Digital Inclusion 
Coordinator Apple, Inc. $4,316.00 12/21/2018

CDI Computer Purchase for FSS Staff Dell Marketing $25,201.82 12/21/2018
DSNR Computer Upgrade SHI Government Solutions $12,785.72 1/4/2019
Innovative Technology Carepack Renewal - HP Hardware Hewlett Packard Enterprise Company $4,918.68 1/7/2019
Beacon Communities Press Tool Kit WW Grainger, Inc. $3,099.00 1/7/2019

Beacon Communities
Cabinet and Counter Replacement at Villa 
De Valencia Units 403 and 801 A&S Landscaping Services $3,778.00 1/14/2019

Beacon Communities Utility Billing Services at Crown Meadows RealPage $480.00 1/17/2019

Page 211 of 246



 
 
 
SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY February 7, 2019 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To: Board of Commissioners  
 
From: David Nisivoccia, President and CEO 
 
Presented by:  Aiyana Longoria, Director of Internal Audit 
 
RE: Update and Discussion regarding Internal Audit Activities 

 
 

SUMMARY: 

Internal Audit provides independent and objective assurance, auditing, and consulting services to                       
add value, improve internal controls, and strengthen the Agency’s operations. The function helps                         
the Housing Authority accomplish its objectives by using a systematic, disciplined approach to                         
evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control, and governance processes.                       
In addition to its oversight activities, internal audit serves as a resource for identifying                           
opportunities for best practices and efficiencies. The mission of the San Antonio Housing                         
Authority Internal Audit Department is to: 

● Ensure the Housing Authority remains a good steward of the public trust by working with                             
all levels of management and staff, as well as the Board of Commissioners, to identify                             
significant risk areas and the internal controls in place to mitigate those risks; 

● Provide continuous quality improvement through the review of processes and procedures                     
to identify operational efficiencies and best practices; and, 

● Perform all assurance and consulting activities with the highest level of integrity and                         
objectivity. 

In accordance with the approved Internal Audit Charter, the Director of Internal Audit (i.e., the                             
Chief Audit Executive), is required to communicate any significant deviation from the approved                         
Internal Audit Plan to the Audit Committee, the President and CEO, and the Legal and                             
Compliance Officer, or equivalent, through periodic activity reports.   

This update provides the required communication, as follows: 

● Internal Audit Department Update 

● Internal Audit Plan Status - FY 2018-2019 Quarter 2 

● Summary and Status of Management Corrective Action Plans (related to Internal Audit                       
reporting) 

 
Management Corrective Action Plans resulting from internal audits are entered into a                       
spreadsheet to allow for easier tracking of the status of open items. A copy of the spreadsheet is                                   
attached. Each of the action items are color-coded to indicate their status as follows: green                             
indicates the action has a due date 30 days or more in the future; red indicates the the action is                                       
behind schedule; and yellow indicates the action has a due date less than 30 days in the future. 
 
 
 

 Page 212 of 246



 
 
 
SAN ANTONIO HOUSING AUTHORITY February 7, 2019 
 

PROPOSED ACTION: 
None at this time. 

 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
None. 
 
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE: 
Transform core operations to be a high performing and financially strong organization. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Slide presentation:  Internal Audit Update – February 7, 2019 
Summary and Status of Management Corrective Action Plans as of 01-07-19 
 

 Page 213 of 246



Internal Audit Update
Presentation to Board of Commissioners

February 7, 2019

Page 214 of 246



OPPORTUNITY LIVES HERE
@HousingSAT

2

Internal Audit Q2 Activities in Support of 
SAHA Strategic Goals

❏ Strategic Goal 1:  Empower and equip families to improve their quality 
of life and achieve economic stability

■ Received and provided comments for four Family Self-Sufficiency Escrow 
requests for payout (over $5,000 each)

❏ Strategic Goal 5:  Transform core operations to be a high performing 
and financially strong organization

■ Procurement Processes and Reporting Audit
■ Rent Calculation and Collection Processes at Beacon Communities Audit
■ Travel and Expenses Audit
■ Compliance Audits

Page 215 of 246



OPPORTUNITY LIVES HERE
@HousingSAT

Status of 2017-2018 Internal Audit Plan

3

Internal Audits

■ Audit of the Housing Programs Eligibility and Admissions Process,
    including the Unified Application Center (UAC) and Resident Intake
➢ Final Report provided to Finance Committee via email on December 21, 2018

■ Audit of Procurement Processes and Reporting
➢ Draft Final Report is in progress

■ Audit of Tenant Participation (TP) Funds - Parkview Apartments
➢ Draft Final Report is under review

Page 216 of 246



OPPORTUNITY LIVES HERE
@HousingSAT

Status of 2017-2018 Audit Plan, cont’d.

4

Compliance Audits

■ Assisted Housing Program
➢ Draft Report for FY 2017-2018 is in progress

■ Public Housing
➢ Draft Report for FY 2017-2018 is in progress

Page 217 of 246



OPPORTUNITY LIVES HERE
@HousingSAT

Status of 2018-2019 Internal Audit Plan

5

Internal Audits
■ Audit of Travel and Entertainment Expenses

➢ Announcement Letter issued in December 2018

■ Audit of Rent Calculation and Collection Processes at Beacon 
Communities
➢ Announcement Letter issued in early January 2019

Compliance Audits
■ Assisted Housing Program (Ongoing)

➢ 160 resident files audited in Q2

■ Public Housing (Ongoing)
➢ 76 resident files (5 properties) audited in Q2

■ Beacon Communities - SAHA-managed properties
➢ Review of departmental compliance program for SAHA-managed Beacon 

Communities properties is in progress

Page 218 of 246



OPPORTUNITY LIVES HERE
@HousingSAT

Action Items

6

Status of Corrective Action Items resulting from Internal Audits

■ Currently, there are six open action items, of which one was added 
this fiscal quarter

■ All action items are expected to be completed this fiscal year

Page 219 of 246



OPPORTUNITY LIVES HERE
@HousingSAT

Status of Third Party Audits

Financial and Compliance Audit for the Housing Authority of the City of 
San Antonio for Fiscal Year 2017-2018

❏ The audit is in progress

7

Page 220 of 246



OPPORTUNITY LIVES HERE
@HousingSAT

QUESTIONS?

Page 221 of 246



Audit Plan 
Year

Final Report 
Date

Audit Title Finding Type
Finding 

Number and 
Title

Finding / Condition Description and 
Recommendation

Management's Corrective Action Plan
Original 

Estimated 
Completion Date

Revised 
Estimated 

Completion 
Date

Status
Resp. 

Officer's 
Initials

Comments

FY 13-14 10/5/2015 Audit of Records 
Retention

Internal 
Control 

Deficiency

Finding 1 Agency email communications are 
currently being retained indefinitely, 
and could be subject to e-discovery 
requirements.

Emails have been retained since an 
incident arose where Commissioners lost 
emails that had been sent to their agency 
email accounts. At this point, we will work 
with the Interim President and CEO to 
ensure that the email record retention 
policy will hereinafter be followed.

12/31/2015 06/30/2019 In 
Progress

EH Google Unlimited has 
been procured; a 
Google Vault is 
included with this 
system that allows for 
automated email 
deletions based on 
recommended 
parameters.

FY 16-17 8/20/18 Audit of CDI Grant 
Funds

Significant 
Deficiency

Finding 2 -                                              
AECF - 

Purchase of 
Service 

Agreement 
- Monitoring 
Deficiency

As of December 31, 2017, the 2016 
AECF grant had a balance of 
$23,880.51 in funds that had not been 
expended.

Recommendation                                                   
A process should be established to ensure 
all requirements are met and by all required 
deadlines which would mitigate the risk 
and reduce the likelihood of this type of 
occurrence in the future.

CDI Program Manager will produce a 
monthly reconciliation of charges and meet 
with Finance monthly to reallocate known 
charges that will not be reimbursed by the 
Grant. Invoices will be submitted to United 
Way for reimbursement, and as payment is 
received, staff will work with Finance to 
ensure that all funds are received.
 
If additional items are disallowed, staff will 
alert Finance to reallocate charges before 
the Grant is closed, and time remains to 
expend all funds.

Lastly, staff will work with the Grant 
Committee to develop Procedures for 
Implementation of SOP for Grant 
Procedures, Monitoring, and Oversight.

12/31/2018 3/31/2019 In 
Progress

DN Staff monthly 
reconciliation of 
charges has been 
completed. 

SOP for Grant 
Procedures, 
Monitoring and 
Oversight has been 
drafted.  It is pending 
review and approval 
from grant committee. 

Fiscal Year 2013-2014

Fiscal Year 2016-2017

Page 222 of 246



Audit Plan 
Year

Final Report 
Date

Audit Title Finding Type
Finding 

Number and 
Title

Finding / Condition Description and 
Recommendation

Management's Corrective Action Plan
Original 

Estimated 
Completion Date

Revised 
Estimated 

Completion 
Date

Status
Resp. 

Officer's 
Initials

Comments

FY 16-17 8/20/18 Audit of CDI Grant 
Funds

Internal 
Control 

Deficiency

Finding 3 -  
BCJI - 

Delay in the 
Initial 

Execution of 
the Grant

The BCJI grant was awarded on 
September 25, 2012, to be effective 
October 1, 2012. Selection of the 
research partner, Trinity University, 
was not presented to the Board of 
Commissioners until June 21, 2013, 
almost nine months later.

Recommendation
To ensure compliance with grant 
provisions, CDI should develop a standard 
operating procedure for each grant.  The 
procedure should address all grant 
provisions including, but not limited to, 
documentation, drawdown, and reporting 
requirements.

[CDI] staff will review notes from Grants 
Committee meetings and complete a grants 
SOP for the Department.

12/31/2018 3/31/2019 In 
Progress

DN
SOP for Grant 
Procedures, 
Monitoring and 
Oversight has been 
drafted.  It is pending 
review and approval 
from grant committee. 

a.    [CDI] Staff will review notes from 
Grants Committee meetings and complete 
a grants SOP for the Department. The 
SOPs will create a system to ensure that 
important dates and deadlines are met, 
including grant performance and financial 
reports.

12/31/2018 3/31/2019 In 
Progress

DN SOP for Grant 
Procedures, 
Monitoring and 
Oversight has been 
drafted.  It is pending 
review and approval 
from grant committee. 

b.    The Director of CDI will review and 
analyze adding an analyst position to the 
CDI Department.  CDI will work with 
Finance and Accounting to determine the 
scope of work for the proposed analyst 
position and determine, during next fiscal 
year's budget process, if adding the 
position is financially feasible.

7/1/2019 In 
Progress

DN

FY 16-17 8/20/18 Audit of CDI Grant 
Funds

Internal 
Control 

Deficiency

Finding 5 - 
BCJI - Missed 

Financial 
Reporting 
Deadlines

Of the 19 Federal Financial Reports 
reviewed for the BCJI grant, five were 
filed over one day after the due date as 
indicated on the electronic confirmation 
receipt.

Recommendation
A method for monitoring/confirming the 
report submission should be established to 
ensure timely reporting.

Page 223 of 246



Audit Plan 
Year

Final Report 
Date

Audit Title Finding Type
Finding 

Number and 
Title

Finding / Condition Description and 
Recommendation

Management's Corrective Action Plan
Original 

Estimated 
Completion Date

Revised 
Estimated 

Completion 
Date

Status
Resp. 

Officer's 
Initials

Comments

FY 16-17 8/20/18 Audit of CDI Grant 
Funds

Internal 
Control 

Deficiency

Finding 6 - 
BCJI - 
Late 

Submission of 
Expenses

The Federal Financial Report, 
submission 12 with a reporting period 
end date of September 30, 2015, 
included $2,363.86 in expenses 
incurred during the previous quarter. 
These expenses were reported on line 
10-e of the Federal Share of 
Expenditures report, in the column 
labeled This Period.

Recommendation
Ensure that all expenses and related 
reporting are completed in the required 
time frame, as listed in the BCJI Grant 
documentation.

[CDI] staff will review notes from Grants 
Committee meetings and complete a grants 
SOP for the Department. The SOPs will 
create a system to ensure that important 
dates and deadlines are met, including 
grant performance and financial reports.

The Director of CDI will review and analyze 
adding an analyst position to the CDI 
Department. CDI will work with Finance and 
Accounting to determine the scope of work 
for the proposed analyst position and 
determine, during next fiscal year's budget 
process, if the adding the position is 
financially feasible.

7/1/2019 In 
Progress

DN SOP for Grant 
Procedures, 
Monitoring and 
Oversight has been 
drafted.  It is pending 
review and approval 
from grant committee.

FY 17-18 12/21/18 Audit of Housing 
Eligibility and 
Admissions 
Processes, 

Including the UAC 
and Resident 

Intake

Significant 
Deficiency

Finding 3 - 
Criminal 

background 
check 

missing 
management 

approval

There were two instances, both in PH 
at H.B. Gonzalez, in which there was 
no evidence either in the file or in Elite 
of the applicant’s “Criminal History 
Request” being approved by 
management. 

Recommendation
Procedures should be reviewed and 
reinforced with staff to ensure all criminal 
background checks are approved and 
documentation is located in the file, as well 
as noted in Elite, for each adult member. 

The criminal history process is being 
revised for the new CHR/RA Analyst 
position. Notes are also being used in Elite 
to ensure that a person is listed as 
approved as a secondary option. CHR 
protocols [were] sent out as directive 
reminder. Once the new CHR/RA Analyst 
position is finalized in duties, a Standard 
Operating Procedure will be created to 
ensure reference material can be used for 
new hires and follow up training.

3/15/2019 New EH

Fiscal Year 2017-2018

Page 224 of 246



 
 
San Antonio Housing Authority                      February 7, 2019 

  
 
To:  Board of Commissioners 
 
From:  David Nisivoccia, President and CEO 
 
Presented by:  Timothy E. Alcott, Real Estate and Legal Services Officer; Lorraine Robles, Director of                         

Development Services and Neighborhood Revitalization; Adrian Lopez, Director of                 
Community Development Initiatives; Arrie Porter, Assistant Director of Choice                 
Neighborhood 

  
RE:  Update and discussion regarding Wheatley Choice Neighborhood activities relating to                   

People, Housing and Neighborhood 
 

 
SUMMARY 
The following describes activities related to the three core components of the Choice Neighborhood Initiative:                             
People, Housing and Neighborhood. The activities are associated with metrics submitted to the U.S. Department                             
of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) on both a quarterly and annual basis. 
 

CHOICE NEIGHBORHOOD GRANT ADMINISTRATION 

Conducted monthly Choice HUD team call on December 11, 2018, from 11:00 a.m. to 12:00 p.m. 
 
Budget Revision #12 was submitted and final HUD approval was received November 19, 2018.  
 

PEOPLE 

Final Year Results 
Original Goals: 

1. Begin with education and improve at every level 
2. Strengthen the relationship with CoSA Police Department and other partners to promote a safe                           

neighborhood 
3. Improve and create new workforce career ladders and growing industries; make job creation a priority 
4. Ensure residents have access to wrap around services, including healthcare 
5. Ensure a sense of community, neighborhood stability and cohesion through promotion of programs                         

and activities that bring people together 
 
Employment: 
Transformation Plan: 47%  
Year 5: 61% +14 pts 
 
Health: 
Transformation Plan: 37% of adults used the emergency room for healthcare purposes   
Year 5: 12% of adults used the emergency room for healthcare purposes 
 
Education: 
Transformation Plan: 5th Grade reading: 67% - Met standard   5th Grade Math: 65% - Met standard 
 

 
Page 225 of 246



San Antonio Housing Authority January 24, 2019 
 
 

Year 5:  5th Grade Reading: 63%      5th Grade Math: 67% 
Reading standards have fallen, while math standards have increased. The increase in math can be attributed                               
to the increased rigor in STEM related curriculum. Urban Case Management programming will continue to                             
supplement youth reading and comprehension programming to increase and encourage growth in reading. 
 
Current Achievements: The five years of Urban Case management has reduced family conditions and                           
improved stability among residents by reducing family risk scores by 57% (256 down to 110). 
 
Overall Goal:  
Employment Goal: 55% of Population Employed - Exceeded target 

CHOICE CASE MANAGEMENT (Quarterly) 

Wheatley Households  
Objectives/Metrics 

● 136 Wheatley households remain on housing assistance. 
● 157 households are no longer receiving housing assistance. Exit reasons include: evictions,                       

abandonment, leaving after giving a 30-day notice to SAHA and death of head of household. 
 
Accomplishments 
Former Wheatley Households 

● 100 former Wheatley households are receiving housing assistance and +case management 
● 36 households are receiving housing assistance, but have not been responsive to case management 
● 8 households are not receiving housing assistance, but are being case managed  

 
New Non former Wheatley households residing in replacement units   
The Park at Sutton Oaks (49 PH units) 

● 41 households are eligible for case management services 
● 9 households are being case managed  

 
East Meadows I (71 PH + 8 PBV)  

● 46 households are eligible for case management services 
● 5 New PH households are being case managed  

 
Wheatley Park Senior 

● 60 households are eligible for case management services 
● 2 New PH households are being case managed  

 
USI case managed families were treated to a holiday party at their monthly meeting.  Santa made an 
appearance and all youth and adults were treated to gifts and treats. 
 

+ Data is updated quarterly as part of Choice grant reporting. 

CHOICE EMPLOYMENT 

Objectives/Metrics 
Baseline in September 2013 
47% of the able-bodied population is employed 
 

 
Page 226 of 246



San Antonio Housing Authority January 24, 2019 
 
 

FY 2018 Target 
68 percent of the able-bodied population will be employed 

*Able-bodied Residents: 134 Target Population (includes all former Wheatley residents in assisted housing) 
89 are active in Case Management 
 
Objectives/Metrics 
* Individuals between the ages of 18-64 years of age and not disabled 
 
Accomplishments 
48 (54%) employed (25 full-time and 23 part-time) are in case management 
70 (52%) employed (33 full-time and 37 part-time) of target population 
 

● 4 of the 48 employed residents are also in education or training 
● 9 new training enrollments this quarter 
● 3 training completions this quarter 
● 4 placed in jobs within three months of completing training or are participating in case management 
● 28 able-bodied former Wheatley residents in case management are unengaged (not in work or                           

training) 
 
Urban has referred three Wheatley Choice residents to the Housing Authority Jobs Plus staff for employment                               
services. 
 
Urban Strategies Inc. (USI) Employment 
 

Total Population - 115 

Able Bodied 18-64yr Population - 101 

There are currently 23 able bodied unemployed individuals.  

USI has created programming in partnership with Turner of Life Counseling to address our unengaged and                               
unemployed population. The “Happy Hour” Workshops’ purpose is to help guide unengaged/unemployed                       
residents into self-development, community leadership, early childhood education choices and healthy living,                       
with the result being that individuals become job ready and move toward economic mobility through either                               
employment, self-employment, or education. This program requires no more than twelve weeks and consists                           
of one hour sessions. The sessions include a combination of goal setting with case managers and                               
counselor(s), group sessions along with journaling assignments. The participants also have the option of ten                             
one-on-one counseling sessions. 

The first event took place on November 30, 2018, in the East Meadows Community room. There were ten                                   
targeted individuals and eight out of ten resided at East Meadows. 

● 7 out of 10 women invited were in attendance; however, 1 person had to leave, due to a family issue. 
● 6 out of 10 participated 60% attendance rate 
● 3 signed-up for counseling with 1 having completed their first one-one counseling session 

 
The attendees worked on goal setting and defined their “Happy” by creating individual vision boards. The                               
next scheduled session was held on December 17, 2018, where the participants continued to work on their                                 
vision boards and discussed their future goals. 

 
Page 227 of 246



San Antonio Housing Authority January 24, 2019 
 
 

Jobs Plus East (JPE) Updates 

Objectives/Metrics 
Increase the number of residents employed by offering free trainings. 
 
 Wheatley Relocated- Referrals from Urban updates 

● 2 - Achieved a High School Diploma from South Texas Leadership 
● 2 - STLC High School Diploma 
● YTD - 6 

 
High School Diploma Graduates from South Texas Leadership 

● YTD - 1 graduate for 2018, with High School Diploma is interested in Culinary Arts and registered for                                   
the Spring Semester at Alamo Colleges and is also a participant of the Job Club Focus Group 

● 4 are enrolled in the High School Diploma Program - In Progress - No Change 
   
Wheatley Relocated Client Training updates 

● YTD - JPE is continuing to provide support to 16 of 29 clients - No Change 
● 1  has enrolled in the Administrative Assistant class with I-Best - Completion Date - April 2019 
● 1 enrolled in the High School Diploma Program in November  

   
Employment 

● YTD Wheatley Relocated Employed - 7 (No Change) 
● 1  Wheatley Relocated East Meadows - interviewed and is waiting for HR completion 

 
Available Community Coach Positions - 4   

● 2  Community Coaches were hired, employed and assigned to JPE - Convent 
● Total Hired - 2 

 
            Recruitment 

● JPE staff continues to saturate the community with available resources, trainings, community events,                         
and employment linkage via emails and monthly JPE newsletter 
 

● The JPE staff initiated a door-to door outreach in the following developments this month: Springview,                             
Village East, Sutton Oaks, Sutton Park and East Meadows to notify residents of available Community                             
Coach positions, and to notify them of the upcoming Medical Assistance/Administrative Assistant                       
classes 

 
● JPE offers open program enrollment and orientation every Thursday at Springview to promote                         

program participation 
 

● JPE hosts a weekly information presentation at the Eastside Education Center 
 

             JPE  Events  Hosted  
● 2 sessions of open program enrollment/new intakes were hosted at Springview. These sessions occur                           

monthly and are on-going. 
● 4 Wheatley relocated residents were offered a Thanksgiving Voucher from Holy Redeemer Church 

(residing at Sutton Oaks, the Park at Sutton Oaks and East Meadows). 
● Food Distribution was held on November 18, 2018, at the Eastside Education Training Center.  

 
Page 228 of 246



San Antonio Housing Authority January 24, 2019 
 
 

● In-kind grocery goods YTD Total - $125,000 
● JPE hosted a Family Engagement event at the Convent. Families engaged in food, games, and door                               

prizes. A turkey and ham was raffled off. An outdoor holiday movie was also shown. The partners in                                   
attendance included Aetna, Depelchin, Alamo Colleges, Goodwill, VIA, and Ms. Abby Gonzales from                         
San Antonio Colleges. 
 

           Upcoming Events  
● 2019 - plans for a Food Distribution event at East Meadows 
● 2019 - plans for a one time Life Skills event at Bibliotech East Meadows  

   
FY 2018 Target 
138 enrolled and 42 placed in employment 

CHOICE RESIDENT TRAINING METRICS (URBAN) 

Objectives/Metrics 
9: New enrollments in job training in the past quarter 
Accomplishments Year 5: 

● 11: Adult High School Diploma Program 
● 2: Associate’s Degree 
● 1: Bachelor’s Degree 
● 1: ESL 
● 14: Workforce training (for specific field e.g., CNA or CDA) 
● 16: Job readiness training (e.g., Starforce or Jobs Plus) 
● 44: Residents have completed training or education to date 

CHOICE RESIDENT HEALTH (URBAN) 

Objectives/Metrics: 
Residents have access to health care services and visit a doctor annually. 
 

Year-to-date Metrics 
● 97% of children have a medical home; 97% of children have health insurance; 100% of children have                                 

seen a doctor in the last 12 months 
● 77% of adults have a medical home; 77% adults now have health insurance; 88% of adults have seen a                                     

doctor in the last 12 months 
● The Adult Assessment Survey provided results that 76% of respondents self-identified as having                         

depression or other mental health issues and were screened and referred to counseling or reported                             
very high to severe levels of stress. Please see below for the latest on Urban’s mental health initiatives 

● 6 women have been automatically enrolled in the Texas Healthy Women Program after delivering                           
babies 

● 8 residents have been referred to Turner of Life Counseling 
 
Accomplishments 

● The NAMI group is up and running again at its new home at the East Meadows Community                                 
room and meets every Tuesday at 10:00 a.m. 

● Turner of Life Counseling began a new program designed for new mothers who lack health                             
insurance and currently unemployed. The program will consist of bi-monthly group sessions                       
and individual counseling sessions. 

 
Page 229 of 246



San Antonio Housing Authority January 24, 2019 
 
 

● Methodist Healthcare Ministries of South Texas has re-opened the Dixon Clinic on the Eastside.                           
The new Dixon Health and Wellness Center is located in a new, state-of-the-art medical                           
building on a twenty acre property that was formerly Southeast Baptist Hospital. The primary                           
clinic is now open and accepting patients without health insurance. All medical services are                           
offered free of charge or at a very low cost. The clinic serves only uninsured patients and                                 
provides free doctor visits and prescription services. A new 28 chair clinic will open soon to                               
serve uninsured dental patients. The USI Health Specialist is currently referring uninsured                       
patients who cannot afford to pay the $45.00 copay, the lowest scale available at the                             
Federally Qualified Community Health Clinic (CommuniCare and CentroMed); or the monthly                     
payments for the CareLink payment plan, available through the County Health System                       
(University Health System). The USI Health Specialist will also work hand-in-hand with the new                           
clinic to build relationships with uninsured families residing at East Meadows by conducting a                           
series of health focused workshops. 

Medical Home:   88 or 77%; an increase of 5% 

Health Insurance:  88 or 77%; an increase of 5% 

Doctor visit in the last 12 months:  94 or 3%; an increase of 11% 

Urban has also developed processes for Significant Case Interventions: 
● Coordination of chronic disease patients to a specialty system of care (including HIV). 
● Coordination of abnormal screening mammogram for definitive diagnosis. A patient now has a medical                           

home at the local FQCHC. 
● Coordination of access to care through Texas Healthy Women Program leading to diagnosis of chronic                             

conditions, including diabetes and heart disease. 
● Coordination of Eye Care through UIW Bowden Clinic, and includes one follow-up referral after                           

cataract surgery. 
● Mental health interventions through behavioral health counseling. 

 
A USI Health Specialist is working with CentroMed to create strategies for enrollment into the Affordable Care                                 
Act for families on the east side who are eligible. The Health Specialist has attended the open enrollment                                   
sessions for the contractors tasked with enrolling eligible residents. CentroMed has requested USI to identify                             
possible residents for employment as ACA Navigators. USI families participated in the Healthy Taste of the                               
Eastside. Two USI families participated by creating healthy treats and won second and third place for taste.                                 
The event was held at the Wheatley Senior Living facility and residents enjoyed the Mardi Gras themed event. 

CHOICE EDUCATION 

The USI Education Liaison continues to develop a network of service partners to support youth educational                               
development, family engagement opportunities and assist with the building of career pathways. The network                           
will be a resource to the East Meadows families and families located within the community. 

● Early Childhood Population – There are currently 35 children under the age of 5 on USI’s caseload.                                 
60% of the population is participating in early learning programs or settings, which is an increase from                                 
51%, in 2017. For 2019, the focus will be on the 14 children (representing 10 households) that are not                                     
participating in early learning programs. Case managers will continue to encourage families to apply                           
for childcare services or enroll children in school. An Education Liaison will continue to share with                               
parents the importance of early learning and the impact on a child’s education foundation. 

● School-aged Population – There are currently 143 school-aged children on USI’s caseload of which we                             
have updated 124, or 87%, of the youth questionnaires. 69% of the assessed school-aged youth are                               

 
Page 230 of 246



San Antonio Housing Authority January 24, 2019 
 
 

participating in positive youth activities, which is an increase from 62%, in 2017. For 2019, the focus will                                   
be to connect 39 children (representing 26 households) to positive youth development activities. 

● Current Programming – Art Club at East Meadows meets weekly in the Community Room serving                             
children and adults of all ages. Chosen GEMS, program for girls ages 10-14, meets weekly at BiblioTech                                 
East. 

● Community Events – 1) 25 of our case-managed families received holiday food bags from United Way                               
of San Antonio & Bexar County in partnership with Marathon Oil. 2) 7 of our current case-managed                                 
youths that attend Pershing Elementary received new shoes from San Antonio Spurs Coach, Greg                           
Popovich, in partnership with a California based non-profit called Shoes That Fit. 3) 75 youth will                               
receive a gift from Ella Austin Community Center, in partnership with Coca-Cola Caravan. 4) H.I.S.                             
Bridge Builders neighborhood block party will was held Saturday, December 15, 2018. Food bags and                             
gifts were distributed to families in attendance. HIS Bridge Builders is located directly across the street                               
from East Meadows and returning families are enrolled in programming offered by HIS Bridge Builders                             
and receive services. 

  

HOUSING 

Final Year Original Goals: 
1. Ensure one-for-one replacement of the assisted housing 
2. Create an economically integrated community and maximize affordable housing 
3. Include residents in all levels of planning and execution of the housing plan 
4. Leverage substantial additional resources to ensure maximum impact in the neighborhood 
5. Integrate the “Housing” component and other study area components, including anticipating future                       

housing needs 
6. Provide appropriate bedroom configurations that are energy efficient, sustainable, accessible,                   

connected, and free from discrimination 
7. Create a strong sense of community through community design 

 
Current Achievements: 

1. Of the 246 replacement units, 204 have been completed to date. 
2. Twelve Facade Improvement grants have been provided to the businesses within the Choice                         

Neighborhood, which have assisted current small businesses, as well as bring in new small businesses                             
to the area.  

3. Wheatley Choice Neighborhood residents have been engaged since the creation of both the Planning                           
and Implementation grant submissions. They are included in all decision making regarding the housing                           
to include the design, amenities, construction, naming and lease-up. They have also been engaged in                             
the neighborhood improvement planning and implementation.  

4. Choice Neighborhood was able to secure $20,000,000 from the City of San Antonio as well as $43                                 
million in tax credits and private investments for the implementation of the Housing and Neighborhood                             
components. In all, the $29,750,000 Choice Neighborhood Implementation grant has provided for                       
over $180,000,000 in investment to this community.  

5. Choice Neighborhood has acquired fifteen vacant lots, three of these lots have vacant structures that                             
are in line for demolition, in order to make way for owner occupied single family housing. Choice has                                   
also provided sixteen Owner Occupied Rehab grants in the neighborhood. Of the sixteen grants, two                             
homes have been completed and fourteen remain in various stages of construction.  

 
Page 231 of 246



San Antonio Housing Authority January 24, 2019 
 
 

6. The unit mix for all four housing phases provides for families of all income levels to reside at the new                                       
development. Each phase offers Public Housing, Section 8 or Public Based Voucher, affordable and                           
market rate units.  

7. The new development was designed to be inclusive of the surrounding community. Each building                           
fronts the street with fencing only between the buildings for limited access to the public. A BiblioTech                                 
library was created on-site for use by residents of the new development as well as the surrounding                                 
community. Finally, the new Phillis Wheatley Park, which is currently in the design phase, is located in                                 
the center of both the East Meadows and Wheatley Park Senior Living community to provide a                               
meeting, play and art space for the neighborhood.  

 

Replacement Housing  
 
Objective 
Replace all 246 units demolished at Wheatley Courts 
 
Accomplishments 
The Park at Sutton Oaks - CNI Phase I (49 PH replacement units) 
The development as a whole is 96 percent occupied.  
 
East Meadows I -CNI Phase II (71PH and 8 PBV = (79 replacement units) 
The development as a whole is 97 percent occupied.   
 
Wheatley Park Senior Living - (40 PH and 36 PBV = (76 replacement units) 
The development as a whole is 100 percent occupied.     
   
FY 2018 Target  
Complete 128 replacement units before the end of FY 2017 - Achieved goal 
 
To date, 204 replacement units have been completed.   

Phase II - East Meadows Multi-Family Housing (215 Units) 
 
Objective  
Complete 215 multi-family units by the end of October 2017 (Revised to March  2019, through loan extension). 
 
Accomplishments 
Current occupancy is 97 percent. 
 
Project Close-out - The stabilization period has been rescheduled to between November 2018, and will                             
continue to January 2019. Conversion is scheduled by March 2019.  
 
Half-Baths - On October 3, 2018, SAHA DSNR received the final Request for Proposal “RFP” documents from                                 
MBS. Construction drawings were completed by DHR and the “RFP” (request for proposals) will be issued in                                 
October for 30 days. Staff proposes a selection in December 2018, with presentation to January Operations                               
and Choice Neighborhood Committee, and final approval during the February 2019 Board meeting.  
   

 
Page 232 of 246



San Antonio Housing Authority January 24, 2019 
 
 

FY 2018 Target 
Project closeout and conversion will occur March 2019 - Target was not met. 

Phase III - Wheatley Park Senior Living - Senior Building (80 Units) 
 
Objective  
Develop eighty affordable units for seniors 62 years of age and older.   
 
Accomplishments 
The overall project construction is 100 % complete.  Current occupancy is 100 percent.   
 
Project Close-out - SAHA funded the Release of Retainage and has now been reimbursed by CoSA.                               
Continue working on all of the documentation to close out the project.   
  
FY 2018 Target 
Complete project by April 30, 2018, and lease up is estimated to be completed by June 2018 - Target Met 

Phase IV - East Meadows II Multi-Family Housing (119 Units) 
 
Objective  
Obtained an allocation of 9% tax credits on July 31, 2017.   
 
Accomplishments 
Notice To Proceed (LNTP) was issued September 19, 2018. Currently, Cadence McShane has placed 5                             
concrete pads on Block E. They continue excavating, backfilling and installing plumbing piping on pads at                               
Block F and G. The draws for number three and four have been funded. Construction meetings are being held                                     
with the owner, developer, architect and the contractor every two weeks. Last construction meeting was held                               
on January 7, 2019.  As of December 31, 2018, the project is at 10.42% complete.   
 
FY 2018 Target   
Close on financing by August 2018 - Not Met - closing scheduled for mid September 2018 - Met 

Public Improvements Phase I & II Construction 
 

Objective  
Completion of Public Improvements for East Meadows and Wheatley Park Senior Living by end of October or 
early November 2017.  
 
 

Accomplishments 
The project is 100% complete with only the removal of electrical utility poles in the right-of-way pending. SAHA                                   
will not release the remaining administrative fees to the developer until the pending items have been                               
completed. On October 3, 2018, the developer provided SAHA DSNR an update and budget to accomplish                               
this work.   
 

FY 2018 Target  
Completion of Phase I & II Public Improvements by November 2017 - Target met 
 

Public Improvements Phase III 
 

 
Page 233 of 246



San Antonio Housing Authority January 24, 2019 
 
 

Objective  
Complete the final phase of Public Improvements in conjunction with the final housing phase.  
 

Accomplishments 
SAHA and MBS have secured $200,000 in CDBG funds to help fund the final phase of Public Improvements.                                   
COSA requested a letter from SAHA requesting use of the reprogrammed dollars, which was submitted                             
August 28, 2018. COSA will now seek City Council approval, on or before, January 31, 2019. A request was                                     
also made to HUD Washington on June 12, 2018, for approval to utilize $920,318 in CNI funds to cover the                                       
proposed financial gap. On June 27, 2018, HUD Washington asked for the PI construction drawings, along                               
with a summary of the work. MBS provided this information the same day as the request. Final HUD approval                                     
is still pending.  
 
Pre-bid meeting with Jerdon, EZ Bel and Cadence McShane was held on June 14, 2018, at East Meadows I                                     
Community Center. Three proposals were received on June 28, 2018. Interviews were held July 10, 2018. MBS                                 
recommended the selection of Cadence McShane and on August 27, 2018. SAHA released MBS to move                               
forward with Cadence McShane who was the qualified low bidder. MBS has notified Cadence McShane and                               
will be issuing an NTP once the closing to the housing portion occurs by mid-September.    
 
FY 2018 Target 
Commencement of Public Improvement work for final phase by July 2018 - Target not Met  
Commencement of Public Improvement work for final phase by September 2018 

Non-Replacement Housing - Phase I 
 
Objective  
Development and lease-up of 376 non-replacement units.  
 
Accomplishments 
Phase I - The Park at Sutton Oaks – 159 non-replacement units were completed as of June 17, 2014. 
 
Phase II - East Meadows - 136 non-replacement units were completed as of December 2017.   
 
Phase III - Wheatley Park Senior Living - 4 non-replacement units were completed March 2, 2018. 
 
Phase IV - East Meadows II - 77 non-replacement units will begin construction June 2018.  
 
FY 2017 Target  
Completion of 295 non-replacement units by June 30, 2017 - Target not met 
 
FY 2018 Target 
Completion of 299 non-replacement units by June 30, 2018 - Target met 
To date 299 non-replacement units have been completed. 
 
Phillis Wheatley Park 
 

Objective  
Create a public park on site, complete with a playground, art and covered sitting area.  
 
Accomplishments 

 
Page 234 of 246



San Antonio Housing Authority January 24, 2019 
 
 

The final design unveiling to the community was held July 31, 2018. It included three zones that will utilize the                                       
linear park to include spaces for all ages. The zones will include a Senior zone to the east area of the park                                           
across the street for Wheatley Park Senior Living by N. Mittman, a kids/family zone in the middle zone, to                                     
potentially locate play amenities and seating, and an open space concept on the opposite west area at the                                   
end by Gevers St. On September 28, 2018, the final construction drawings were completed and submitted for                                 
permitting to the City of San Antonio. Issuance of an IFB and Selection for the general contractor is scheduled                                     
to occur during the month of October 2018, to be presented to the November 2018, Operations and Choice                                   
Neighborhood Committee and approval at the December 2018, Board meeting.     

NEIGHBORHOOD 

Final Year 
Original Goals: 

1. Increase green space 
2. Implement Byrne Act-funded crime prevention and safety-enhancing activities in partnership with EPN                       

to improve a sense of personal safety 
3. Establish community gardens and produce a food co-op 
4. Increase connectivity 
5. Increase home ownership through infill housing and rehab of single family units 
6. Prioritize neighborhood level retail and services 
7. Promote a retail facade program 
8. Create incentives for businesses to locate in the area 

 
Current Achievements: 

1. Each new development has green space within each block and a centralized park is currently being                               
designed by the community in honor of Phillis Wheatley and Ira Aldridge.  

2. The strategies provided by the Byrne Grant were incorporated into the neighborhood strategies, which                           
helped reduce crime. These strategies, along with the improved lighting, has improved a sense of                             
safety within the neighborhood.  

3. Choice Neighborhood is currently working on a structure to house farm equipment and to bring water                               
and electricity to the Urban Farm in preparation for a fall planting.  

4. Choice Neighborhood, in partnership with COSA and VIA, have improved connectivity within the                         
neighborhood through sidewalk and street improvements, as well as the addition of a bus route that                               
runs from Ft. Sam Houston down to Walters street, all the way to Hwy 90. The addition of this bus                                       
route now provides residents a direct ride to St. Phillips College.  

5. Choice Neighborhood has acquired fifteen vacant lots. Three of these lots have vacant structures that                             
are in line for demolition in order to make way for owner occupied single family housing. Choice has                                   
also provided sixteen Owner Occupied Rehab grants in the neighborhood. Of the sixteen, two homes                             
have been completed and fourteen remain in various stages of construction.  

6. Choice Neighborhood has brought new small businesses, as well as service providers, such as the                             
UHS Robert L.M. Hilliard Clinic to the neighborhood.  

7. Choice Neighborhood business facade improvement program has issued all twelve of its grants to                           
small businesses in the neighborhood.  

8. Choice Neighborhood created the business facade improvement program to attract new businesses to                         
the area, provide the opportunity for established businesses to improve their businesses and allow for                             
businesses to utilize the grant funds for CPTED measures, such as security cameras and lighting.  

 

Overall Goal: Successfully complete all six CCI strategies 

 
Page 235 of 246



San Antonio Housing Authority January 24, 2019 
 
 

CRITICAL COMMUNITY IMPROVEMENTS (CCI) 

Administrative–CCI Plan 

Accomplishments 
Implementation of all six CCI Strategies.  
 

FY 2018 Target 
Completion of all twelve Business Facade Improvement projects by June 30, 2018 
Completion of Art in the Park pieces by June 30, 2019 

Infill - Vacant Lots 

Accomplishments 
Staff has secured a total of fifteen properties in Target Area (TA) I & II locations and is in the process of                                           
securing three more. SAHA has applied to the City for waivers to reduce development costs for builders.  
 
FY 2018 Target 
New construction of twelve homes between March 2019 - November 2019 
 
FY 2019 Target 
Release RFP to qualified builders - December 2018 
Interviews - January 2019 
Selection - January 2019 
Operations Committee approval - January 2019 
Board approval - February 2019 

Owner Occupied Rehab 

Accomplishments 
Merced Housing Texas has twenty applications in various stages of the Owner Occupied Rehab (O.O.R)                             
process. Staff has conducted additional outreach to identify property owners who can benefit from the                             
program. SAHA is requesting Merced’s contract be extended for an additional year to continue their                             
outstanding work. 
 
HUD places emphasis on exterior improvements to ensure a significant visible impact from the street and has                                 
approved an exterior only program, so property owners interested in exterior improvements, can participate.                           
HUD previously approved an additional $200,000 for the O.O.R. program. That amount was not reflected in                               
the previous budget. 
 
FY 2018 Target 
Rehabilitate thirteen homes in the Choice footprint by December 31, 2018. 

Business Facade Restoration 

Accomplishments 
All grants have been awarded. Eleven facade projects have been completed; however, there was a problem                               
with the last grant award. Photos reveal no progress on the project, and the business owner went outside                                   
scope of project after agreeing to a modified scope. Staff met with the SAGE CEO, and the Board Chair and                                       

 
Page 236 of 246



San Antonio Housing Authority January 24, 2019 
 
 

the Board Chair requested that the grantee return monies. SAGE has contacted businesses who utilized all of                                 
their initial grants to identify those with additional projects. Three were identified as valid, and could result in                                   
larger grant amounts. Staff advised HUD that facade expenditures need to be revisited. 
 
FY 2018 Target 
Award up to twelve grants for qualifying businesses  

Urban Farm 

The plumbing contractor has finished installation of the pipe, repaired the road, and has passed all                               
inspections. SAWS has also installed meters. R and C Landscaping is set to begin sourcing trees and the                                   
installation of the irrigation system, after the holidays. 
 
The General Contractor (G.C.) has submitted foundation, electric, and building specs to the City of San Antonio                                 
for permitting. Permitting is complete to include all reviews. CPS Energy has completed the primary electrical                               
installation design. The electrical contractor will install primary design wiring. G.C. is free to purchase, and                               
install the building. Staff anticipates the process will take approximately forty-five days, from start to finish. This                                 
includes the time that CPS Energy will need to complete installation, testing and operations, once the primary                                 
design work is complete. Planting will occur in the spring.  
 

Scope of Work 
● G.C. underground services 
● CPS Energy inspects the work performed 
● CPS Energy hooks up the concrete 
● Subcontractor builds building 

 
FY 2017 Target 
Develop Urban Farm in the Choice Footprint - in progress 
 

FY 2018 Target  
Initiate build-out of Farm 
 

Neighborhood Beautification 

Accomplishments 
The artist is completing the fabrication of the mosaic artwork for Phillis Wheatley Park. The artwork includes                                 
the memorial wall, lion sculptures and custom benches. The artist is currently in the process of working on the                                     
attachments of the portraits of Phillis Wheatley and Ira Aldridge. Final development and installation is on                               
schedule for June 2019. 
 

FY 2017 Target   
Selection of artists - Target met 
 

FY 2018 Target 
Completion of design, community meetings, and initiation of projects. 

ENHANCE PUBLIC INFRASTRUCTURE 

 
Page 237 of 246



San Antonio Housing Authority January 24, 2019 
 
 

Public Improvements (Streets, Sidewalks, Curbs, and Lighting) 
Improvements in Target Area III are ongoing and improvements for Target Area III have been initiated.  
 
Accomplishments 
Public Improvements in Target II completed. 
 
FY 2018 Target  
Completion of curbs, streets, sidewalks, driveways and lighting in Target Area II. Continuance of work is still in                                   
progress in Target Area III. 

 
REQUESTED ACTION: 
None at this time. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
None. 
 
STRATEGIC GOAL: 
Empower and equip families to improve their quality of life and achieve economic stability. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  
None. 
 
 

 
Page 238 of 246



President’s Report 
 
Dale Watson Benefit Concert 
Over 150 boot scootin' two-steppers supported the Education Investment Foundation at the Annual                         
EIF Benefit Concert, featuring Honky Tonk legend Dale Watson, along with D.T. Buffin, Texas T and                               
the Shine Runners on Friday, January 18, 2019. The event netted almost $7,000.00 and all proceeds                               
will help fund scholarships for students residing in federal housing programs.  
 

 
 

 

Page 239 of 246



 
SAHA Participates in MLK March 
Proudly wearing red SAHA "Opportunity Lives Here" T-shirts, nearly 150 men, women and children                           
representing SAHA marched united on January 21, 2019, in memory of Martin Luther King, Jr. SAHA                                
staff and family members participated in the 51st Annual MLK March to commemorate and honor the                               
nation’s most revered civil rights leader. Each year, the annual march grows in attendance, making                             
San Antonio the largest march in the nation.  
 

 

 

Page 240 of 246



Golden Gala and Senior Expo 
Hundreds of residents living in SAHA elderly and disabled communities danced the night away at the                               
21st Annual Golden Gala and Senior Expo on December 19, 2018. Each year, the event is held for                                   
public housing residents and features a holiday meal, live entertainment and dance. Special                         
recognition is given to veterans for their dedication and loyal service to our Country. In addition,                               
SAHA awarded H2A Living (Healthy Habits, Active Living) Awards, recognizing residents for their                         
public service contributions in promoting healthy eating, physical activity, volunteerism and                     
leadership. 
 
 

     
 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 241 of 246



 
San Antonio Spur Surprises Springview Families 
On the night of December 16, 2018, Santa was spotted roaming the Springview Apartments                           
community, delivering gifts to families much sooner than Christmas Day. But this Santa isn't the jolly                               
St. Nick we've seen on TV, but a much taller and talented bearded man dressed in red. It was San                                       
Antonio Spur Rudy Gay partnering with Elf Louise to deliver gifts and San Antonio Spurs game                               
tickets. 
 

 

   
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 242 of 246



 
Holiday Food Distribution 
The Community Development Initiatives Department, in partnership with the San Antonio Food Bank,                         
hosted their Annual Holiday Food Distribution on Friday, December 14, 2018, to help combat food                             
insecurity during the holidays. SAHA residents and the public were served fifty pounds of food to                               
help families offset grocery costs. Young adults from the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saints                               
worked diligently to prep and help SAHA serve food. 
 

 
 

 

Page 243 of 246



KIPP Hosts Christmas Dinner at Cassiano  
Helping families get into the Christmas spirit, KIPP Un Mundo Dual Language Academy sponsored a                             
Christmas Dinner at Cassiano Homes on December 15, 2018. Families enjoyed tamales and                         
trimmings, decorated wreaths as a family and snapped photos with Santa. 
 

 

 
 

 

Page 244 of 246



SAHA Celebrates FSS Program Graduates 
With family by their side, ten Federal Housing Program participants received escrow checks for their                             
completion of the Family Self-Sufficiency Program on December 11, 2018. The families received                         
checks between $2,000 and $20,0000, totaling more than $84,000 in monetary distribution. 
 

 
 

SAHA Transformed Into Santa’s Workshop 
The SAHA Boardroom was transformed into Santa's workshop on December 7, 2018, as the                           
Community Development Initiatives (CDI) Department staff wrapped hundreds of toys. CDI received                       
and purchased more than 200 gifts, thanks to the generosity of staff and organizations such as KIPP                                 
San Antonio, Noble Star Masonic Lodge No. 277 and more. 
 

 
 

 

Page 245 of 246



Update on Government Shutdown 
The White House announced on January 25 it struck a deal with Congress to temporarily reopen the                                 
government through February 15. Congress passed the spending bills to reopen the government and                           
provided funding to agencies such as HUD, in which SAHA depends on for federal housing programs                               
funding. 
 
While we are relieved federal funding was restored, and payments will be guaranteed for February,                             
we remain cautiously optimistic about funding for March. There is a possibility the government may                             
close again if a deal on border security is not reached by February 15. 
 
In the interim, we hope this will ease the minds of our residents and staff. We are looking forward to                                       
congressional leaders and the White House coming to an agreement and passing a final FY19 budget                               
for the remainder of this year. 
 
We greatly appreciate the patience our residents and staff exercised during the 35-day government                           
shutdown. 

Page 246 of 246


	1. Cover-RBM-02-07-19
	1A. Agenda-RBM-02-07-19
	4. Meeting Minutes of December 6, 2018-RBM-02-07-19
	5. Resolution 5900-Acceptance of Audit Report-Memo-RBM-02-07-19
	5A. Resolution 5900-Acceptance of Audit Report-RBM-02-07-19
	5B. Resolution 5900-Acceptance of Audit Report-Presentation-RBM-02-07-19
	5C. Resolution 5900-Acceptance of Audit Report-Financial Report-RBM-02-07-19
	6. Resolution 5901-Investment Policy Review-Memo-RBM-02-07-19
	6A. Resolution 5901-Investment Policy Review-RBM-02-07-19
	6B. Resolution 5901-Investment Policy Review-Attachment-RBM-02-07-19
	7. Resolution 5904-Award of Contract for Wheately Infill New Home Construction-Memo-RBM-02-07-19
	7A. Resolution 5904-Award of Contract for Wheately Infill New Home Construction-RBM-02-07-19
	7B. Resolution 5904-Award of Contract for Wheatley Infill New Home Construction-Presentation-RBM-02-07-19
	7C. Resolution 5904-Award of Contract for Wheately Infill New Home Construction-Ad List-RBM-02-07-19
	8. Resolution 5905-Conveyance of 15 Lots to Terramark-Memo-RBM-02-07-19
	8A. Resolution 5905-Conveyance of 15 Lots to Terramark-RBM-02-07-19
	8B. Resolution 5905-Conveyance of 15 Lots to Terramark-Map-RBM-02-07-19
	9. Resolution 5902-Amending Merced Budget-Memo-RBM-02-07-19
	9A. Resolution 5902-Amending Merced Budget-RBM-02-07-19
	9B. Resolution 5902-Amending Merced Budget-Agreement-RBM-02-07-19
	10. Resolution 5906-Phillis Wheatley Park Hardscape-Memo-RBM-02-07-19
	10A. Resolution 5906-Phillis Wheatley Park Hardscape-RBM-02-07-19
	10B. Resolution 5906-Phillis Wheatley Park Hardscape-Presentation-RBM-02-07-19
	10C. Draft-Resolution 5906-Phillis Wheatley Park Hardscape-Supporting Docs-RBM-02-07-19
	11. Resolution 5857-Developer for 5700 Culebra and 4847 Callaghan Rd-MEMO-RBM-02-07-19
	11A. Resolution 5857-Developer for 5700 Culebra and 4847 Callaghan Rd-RBM-02-07-19
	11B. Resolution 5857-Developer for 5700 Culebra _ 4847 Callaghan Rd-Maps-RBM-02-07-19
	11C. Resolution 5857-Developer for 5700 Culebra and 4847 Callaghan Rd-Supporting Docs-RBM-02-07-19
	12. Resolution 5909-Development Partner for 210 S. Grimes-Memo-RBM-02-07-19
	12A. Resolution 5909-Development Partner for 210 S. Grimes-RBM-02-07-19
	12B. Resolution 5909-Development Partner for 210 S. Grimes-Aerial Map-RBM-02-07-19
	12C. Resolution 5909-Development Partner for 210 S. Grimes-Map Site Plan-RBM-02-07-19 
	12D. Resolution 5909-Development Partner for 210 S. Grimes-Acreage Map-RBM-02-07-19
	13. Resolution 5908-Elevators _ Escalators Contract-Memo-RBM-02-07-19
	13A. Resolution 5908-Elevators _ Escalators-RBM-02-07-19
	14. Resolution 5907-Irrigation Systems-Memo-RBM-02-07-19
	14A. Resolution 5907-Irrigation Systems-RBM-02-07-19
	14B. Resolution 5907-Irrigation Systems-Tabulation-RBM-02-07-19
	14C. Resolution 5907-Irrigation Systems-Ad List-RBM-02-07-19
	15. Resolution 5903-Over-Income Limit Policy-Memo-RBM-02-07-19
	15A. Resolution 5903 Over-Income Limit Policy-RBM-02-07-19
	16. Procurement Report- Memo-02-07-19
	16A. Procurement Report-02-07-19
	17. Internal Audit Q2 Update-Memo-RBM-02-07-19
	17A. Internal Audit Q2 Update-Presentation-RBM-02-07-19
	17B. Internal Audit Q2-Status of Management Corrective Action Items-RBM-02-07-19
	Table 1

	18. Choice Update-RBM-02-07-19
	19. President’s Report-RBM-02-07-19



